

Journal of Chromatography A, 856 (1999) 117-143

JOURNAL OF CHROMATOGRAPHY A

www.elsevier.com/locate/chroma

Review

Recent developments in microcolumn liquid chromatography

Johannes P.C. Vissers*

LC Packings, Baarsjesweg 154, 1057 HM Amsterdam, The Netherlands

Abstract

An overview of the most recent developments in microcolumn liquid chromatography (LC) is presented. A short theoretical discussion on chromatographic dilution and extracolumn bandbroadening is given and also the recent progress and advances in column technology and instrumentation are reviewed. However, the emphasis of this review is on miniaturized sample clean-up, sample introduction techniques and on both established and more recent detection techniques for microcolumn LC. The hyphenation of miniaturized LC columns with other techniques, specifically on multidimensional chromatography and the coupling of microcolumn LC to mass spectrometry is discussed in detail. Both the on-line and automated off-line interfacing to other separation and detection techniques will also be addressed. Finally, a number of typical microcolumn LC applications are presented in order to demonstrate the potential of microcolumn LC methods in a variety of scientific areas. © 1999 Elsevier Science B.V. All rights reserved.

Keywords: Reviews; Microcolumn; Extracolumn bandbroadening; Bandbroadening; Clean-up methods; Proteins; Peptides

Contents

1.	Introduction	118
2.	Theoretical considerations	118
	2.1. Chromatographic dilution	118
	2.2. Extracolumn bandbroadening	119
3.	Microcolumn packing and monolithic supports	120
	3.1. Filling techniques	120
	3.2. Monolithic supports	121
4.	Miniaturized instrumentation	122
	4.1. Injection devices and sample clean-up techniques	123
	4.1.1. Small volume injections	123
	4.1.2. On-column focussing (large volume injections)	123
	4.1.3. Miniaturized precolumn and sample enrichment techniques	124
	4.2. Detectors	125
	4.2.1. UV absorbance and photodiode array detection	126
	4.2.2. Fluorescence detection	127
	4.2.3. Electrochemical detection	127
	4.2.4. Other detection principles	128
	4.3. Temperature programming	129
5.	Hyphenation	129

*Tel.: +31-20-683-9768; fax: +31-20-685-3452.

0021-9673/99/\$ – see front matter @ 1999 Elsevier Science B.V. All rights reserved. PII: S0021-9673(99)00692-5

	5.1. Multidimensional chromatography	129
	5.2. Microcolumn LC-mass spectrometry	131
	5.2.1. Electrospray ionization	131
	5.2.2. Automated off-line matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization mass spectrometry	132
	5.2.3. On-line matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization mass spectrometry	134
	5.3. Microcolumn LC-nuclear magnectic resonance	134
6.	Applications	134
	6.1. Protein/peptide research	134
	6.2. Chiral separations	136
	6.3. Bioanalysis and neuroscience	137
A	cknowledgements	138
Re	eferences	138

1. Introduction

The continuing interest in microcolumn liquid chromatography (LC) is shown by the increasing number of papers that are being published on this technique and by the large number of review articles that have recently appeared in the literature. Specific reviews include: general aspects of microcolumn LC [1-11], column technology [12-16], detection in microcolumn LC [17-26], instrumentation [27,28] and multidimensional chromatography [29]. The introduction of microcolumn LC is attributed to Horváth et al. who in 1967 [30,31], used 0.5-1.0mm inner diameter (I.D.) stainless steel columns packed with pellicular particles for the separation of ribonucleotides. In the years following, high-performance liquid chromatography research was mainly focused on packed columns with an I.D. of 4.6 mm. Therefore, it was not until the mid 1970's before Ishii et al. demonstrated the use of slurry packed Teflon microcolumns in a series of publications [32-37], which initiated a breakthrough in the development of microcolumn LC. Other types of microcolumns with capillary dimensions - i.e. smaller than 1.0 mm I.D. - were introduced shortly thereafter [38-44]. At the same time Scott et al. [45-49] reported their work with packed 1.0 mm I.D. columns to achieve efficient, high-speed separations. The work of Novotny and co-workers [41-43], Yang [38] and Scott et al. [45-49] are regarded as key publications in the field of microcolumn LC. The initial developments towards miniaturization in high-performance liquid chromatography were soon adapted by a number of laboratories worldwide [50-52].

Microcolumn LC has established itself as a com-

plementary technique to conventional sized LC columns, which are more routinely used in highperformance liquid chromatography. This is mainly due to the advantages found in an increasing number of applications of microcolumn LC where conventional high-performance liquid chromatography falls short or can not compete. The most important advantages of microcolumn LC are the ability to work with minute sample sizes, small volumetric flow-rates, and the enhanced detection performance with the use of concentration sensitive detection devices due to reduced chromatographic dilution [2-5]. Presently, microcolumn LC is almost exclusively performed - as a research tool and in routine analysis - with slurry-packed columns of various dimensions. This review article will focus on recent technological advances with these slurry-packed microcolumns. Consideration will be given to miniaturized sample preparation techniques and detection in microcolumn LC. In addition, the general advantages of multidimensional separation techniques using miniaturized LC columns and applications relating to the hyphenation to mass spectrometry and some applications are discussed. The nomenclature used in this paper is as previously described [11].

2. Theoretical considerations

2.1. Chromatographic dilution

A sample compound will be subjected to dilution during the chromatographic separation process. The chromatographic dilution D at the end of the column is given by:

$$D = \frac{c_0}{c_{\text{max}}} = \frac{\epsilon_i \pi r^2 (1+k) \sqrt{2\pi L H}}{V_{\text{inj}}}$$
(1)

where c_0 is the initial compound concentration in a sample, c_{max} is the final compound concentration at the peak maximum, r is the column radius, k is the retention factor, L is the column length, H is the column plate height, ϵ_i is the column porosity and $V_{\rm ini}$ is the injected sample volume. D increases proportionally with the square of the column radius and also with the square root of the column length and plate height of the column. Hence, under identical chromatographic and injection conditions c_{max} increases inversely to r^2 . From Eq. (1) a 235-fold increase in peak height and mass sensitivity for a reduction in the diameter of a column from 4.6 to 300 µm I.D. can be calculated. It must be stressed, however, that this advantage of smaller I.D. columns can only be fully exploited when the same sample size can be loaded and the operating characteristics of such columns are identical as compared to conventional columns. Even though the sample size is proportional to the amount of stationary phase in one plate, this advantage is only valid in cases where the sample mass is restricted.

2.2. Extracolumn bandbroadening

Miniaturization is essentially the reduction of the I.D. of a column. At the same time the outer or extracolumn bandbroadening effects must be reduced accordingly in order to achieve maximal performance. This is of major importance to prevent a considerable loss of efficiency, which may result in decreased resolution of the chromatographic system.

Typically the plate number of a column is calculated from the standard deviation of a peak, which yields the column efficiency. However, this condition is often not met, since both the column and the instrumental bandbroadening contribute to the standard deviation of a chromatographic peak. Therefore, together with the presentation of column efficiencies, the applied instrumentation and hardware should be discussed, unless the extracolumn bandbroadening contribution is negligible compared to the peak broadening of a specific column. Since extracolumn effects will always be present, it is more a question of what is an acceptable level of extracolumn bandbroadening for an LC column under specific experimental conditions.

Generally, a 5% reduction in chromatographic resolution is accepted as the maximum allowable instrumental contribution to the overall variance. Consequently, the loss in column plate based on extracolumn effects number should not exceed 10% [11,28]. For a specific LC system the maximum acceptable $\sigma_{e(acc)}^2$ variance is described as:

$$\sigma_{\rm e(acc)}^2 \le 0.10 \sigma_{\rm c}^2 \le 0.10 (\pi r^2 \epsilon_t)^2 (1+k)^2 HL$$
 (2)

where σ_c^2 is the volumetric column variance. Representative column dimensions and the maximum allowable variance for a non-retained (k=0) and a slightly retained compound (k=1 or k=2) for three different type of microcolumns are shown in Table 1.

Table 1

Column type	Column I.D.	Column length (cm)	$\sigma_{\rm e(acc)}^2$ (nl ²)		
			k = 0	k = 1	k=2
Micro LC	1.0 mm	15.0	45 300	181 000	408 000
		25.0	75 600	302 000	680 000
Capillary LC	300 µm	15.0	370	1470	3310
		25.0	610	2450	5510
Nanoscale LC	75 μm	15.0	1.4	5.7	13
		25.0	2.4	9.6	22
		40.0	3.8	15	34

Maximum acceptable extracolumn variance $\sigma^2_{e(acc)}$ for different microcolumns for non-retained and slightly retained components^a

^a The total porosity ϵ_i was taken as 0.70 and a 5% loss in column efficiency was permitted ($\theta^2 = 0.05$). Ideal injection profiles ($K^2 = 12$), and optimum mobile phase flow-rate and plate height $(2d_n)$ were assumed. The particle diameter was taken as 5 μ m.

3. Microcolumn packing and monolithic supports

3.1. Filling techniques

Different filling techniques have been reported for the preparation of packed capillary LC columns, which include applying gases [53–55], supercritical fluids [56–61] or liquids [62,63] to transport the stationary phase particles into the column. For micro LC columns liquids are used exclusively to pack the columns [64,65]. The basic concept of all of the major packing techniques however remains the same: a frit – composed of a metal screen, glass wool, polymeric membranes or condensed silica particles – is mounted at one of an unfilled column. The particles are then pushed into the columns from the opposite side. Filtration simply describes the entire packing process.

The separation efficiency of microcolumns is influenced by a large number of parameters, not only by packing parameters such as solvent selection, packing pressure, slurry concentration, the use of surfactants to stabilize the particle suspension, slurry vessel dimensions, etc. [66–72], but also by column parameters like column blank material, frit selection, etc. [66,73–77]. The majority of these particular packing techniques are empirically developed and mainly based on assumptions and trial and error methods. Nevertheless, good, efficient microcolumns can be produced by the packing methods described above, and their performance can be regarded as optimal – i.e. reduced plate heights near two – according to classical chromatographic theory.

Some research groups have tried to develop a better understanding of the packing processes by incorporating colloid chemical studies, filtration theories and stress behavior during bed compression [59,78–81]. Although certain trends could be assigned from these studies, a sound theoretical description and understanding of packing methods for microcolumns remains unavailable. Vissers et al. [78,79] related the coagulating properties of a number of octadecyl reversed-phase materials in different slurry and packing liquids to the final chromatographic performance of microcolumns. They found that coagulation of stationary phase particles has less of an impact than previously was assumed. Tong et al. [59] developed a shear stress model to describe particle movement during column packing with supercritical fluids. It was found that relatively low packing pressures yielded more dense packing structures. However, no quantitative relationships were shown. Furthermore, novel packing techniques that apply continuous vibration of the stationary phase slurry suspension with the aid of an ultra sonification probe do not seem to produce significantly better columns in terms of efficiency and column lifetime [82].

At present, extensive studies of columns with an I.D. of ~200–300 μ m appear in the literature. There is also a growing trend in column usage with an even smaller I.D. The driving force towards further miniaturization can be attributed to the use of such columns in capillary electrochromatography (CEC) [82–84] and electrospray ionization mass spectrometry (ESI-MS). CEC columns with an I.D. of 50–100 μ m are required for prevention of Joule heating of the mobile phase, whereas in LC–ESI-MS the use of 50–100 μ m I.D. LC columns leads to a tremendous increase in sensitivity of the electrospray interface. A detailed description of both techniques is however beyond the scope of this paper.

There is a scientific interest in the use of very narrow fused-silica capillaries. Several research groups [85–88] reported that the plate height of packed columns reduces by a factor of approximately two when the column to particle diameter ratio – also known as the Knox–Parcher ratio – is smaller than six. None of the well-known classical plate height equations suggest however that the column diameter d_c does not influence the plate height of packed columns, whereas only the particle diameter d_p does.

This contradiction between theory and experimental observations was explained by Kennedy and Jorgenson [85] by the fact that inhomogeneities in mobile phase flow paths are strongly reduced due to the more uniform cross-sectional packing structures of such small I.D. packed columns, resulting in flow paths of almost identical permeability. Peak dispersion is reduced since only wall-ordered packing structures are possible. The decrease in the packing structure variation also gives rise to more uniform retention factors, which in turn reduces column bandbroadening. Both effects contribute to a combined decrease to bandbroadening. Finally, small column I.D.s allow for more rapid transcolumn diffusion between all possible flow paths and retention regions, enabling the analyte to diffuse across the entire column cross section. The smallest published reduced plate heights are 1.0 for non-retained compounds and 1.2-1.3 for slightly retained compounds using 5 µm reversed octadecyl modified particles [88].

In a recent publication, MacNair et al. [89] reported on the preparation and performance of ultrahigh-pressure packed reversed-phase nanoscale LC columns. Although basically a slurry packing technique, MacNair and co-workers introduced some novel aspects of column packing including the effect of the column inlet pressure on the efficiency of the column, analysis time and retention factor in nanoscale LC. The use of high column inlet-pressures requires the design of special packing and pumping equipment plus custom connection and injection devices. Typical inlet pressures during column packing have been reported at 4100 bar and operating pressure in between 1500-4100 bars. Justification of these high inlet pressures was the use of 1.5 µm non-porous stationary phase particles and column lengths up to 70 cm. To obtain such high inlet pressures, two pneumatic pumps were placed in series – a single-stage and a triple-stage air-actuated pneumatic amplifier respectively – the schematics of which are shown in Fig. 1. When the column is operated at maximum mobile phase velocity, the theoretical height of a plate that can be generated with this a system was 5 μ m for slightly retained compounds. Analysis times were on the order of 30 min for hydroxylated polycyclic aromatic hydro-carbons with a retention factor $k \leq 2$. Retention factors were found to be linearly dependent on the column inlet pressure since no heat dissipation is anticipated when using small I.D. columns.

3.2. Monolithic supports

The introduction of CEC has stimulated the development of monolithic column packings. A chromatographic bed that is pH-stable over a very broad range – preferably up to pH values of 8 or higher – and to reduce negative side-effects that arise from sintered frits, i.e. bubble formation, adsorption-induced tailing and extracolumn bandbroadening. Monolithic column packings are not exclusively used for CEC. Hjertén et al. [90] demonstrated that a monolithic LC column could be constructed by



Fig. 1. General experimental layout for packing column for ultrahigh pressure liquid chromatography (reprinted with permission from Ref. [89]. Copyright (1997) American Chemical Society).

compressing a solvent-swollen copolymer. Despite the lack of a continuous pore size distribution, it was shown that this material could be used for ionexchange separations of proteins. Svec and Fréchet [91] reported on the preparation of a continuous rod of porous polymer. After molding a polymeric rod by an in-situ polymerization in the tube of a chromatographic column, the polymer was functionalized with either a diol or an amino group. The performance of this monolithic bed was further demonstrated by the ionic exchange separation of proteins. Another approach towards the production of a monolithic chromatographic bed is the construction of a functionalized silica skeleton, which has been demonstrated by Minikucho et al. [92]. The chromatographic performance in terms of plate height was found to be comparable with 5 µm stationary phase particles. Fields [93] demonstrated a similar approach for the development of a continuous column support for capillary LC columns. Minimum plate heights were found to be close to 75 µm, which is considerably higher than the plate heights for silica particle packed columns.

The application of LC column approaches to the development of a monolithic bed have been extended and optimized for CEC columns. Palm and Novotny [94] and Ericson et al. [95] reported on gel-matrices for use as the monolithic support. Both groups conducted the polymerization of a gel in-situ in the chromatographic tube. First, the capillary wall was pretreated with a reagent that allows a covalent bond to form between the gel and the fused-silica capillary. After in-situ polymerization of the gel, the matrix was functionalized with a C_4 , C_6 or C_{12} ligand [94] or with a C_{18} ligand [95]. The plate heights for the C_4 , C_6 and C_{12} functionalized matrices were 2.8 µm, 3.3 µm and 4.2 µm respectively under CEC conditions [94]. The plate height for the C_{18} functionalized columns was about 8.3 µm [95]. No explanations for these apparent liganddependant plate counts were given. Peters et al. [96-98] have published a series of papers on a one-step in-situ copolymerization in 100 and 150 µm I.D. fused-silica capillaries. The monolithic columns obtained have plate heights better than 8.3 µm under CEC conditions. These plate heights can also be achieved in capillary LC. However, many types of monolithic columns - including gel-matrix monolithic columns – do not suffer from limited bed stability or the formation of bubbles within the column during analysis. Furthermore, since no supporting frits are required, no unwanted interactions arise from the interaction of the sample with the frit material are to be expected. Horváth et al. produced a monolithic silica column by sintering bare 6 μ m silica particles along the complete column length [99]. After sintering, the fused particles were functionalized with a C₁₈ ligand. The plate height was estimated to be 16 μ m in the pressure driven LC mode and 8 μ m in the electrokinetic CEC mode. Plate heights reported by Dualy et al. [100] were around 12.5 μ m in the CEC mode, using a similar sol-gel technology approach.

4. Miniaturized instrumentation

Decreasing the column volume puts stringent requirements on the instrumentation applied in microcolumn LC. All volumetric extracolumn dispersion sources have to be scaled down according to the volume of the separation column. This is particularly important for the injection and detection volume. This section addresses these topics, as well as miniaturized sample clean-up and preconcentration techniques. Besides reducing the extracolumn sources of dispersion, the volumetric flow-rate through the column must also be scaled down. Until recently, $\mu l \min^{-1}$ and $n l \min^{-1}$ flow rates could only be achieved by means of flow splitting. However, commercial instrumentation has become available to perform micro and capillary LC, using either reciprocating or syringe pumps. The advantages and limitations of both techniques were discussed in a previous paper [11]. Nanoscale column flows are limited to flow splitting methods. It is important to mention that the linear flow through a packed column is independent of the column diameter and therefore the time of analysis is also independent of the column diameter. This is of course only true if microcolumns are as densely packed as conventional LC columns. As a result, methods developed on conventional LC columns should be directly transferable to microcolumns. Although the latter seems difficult to achieve since delay times in gradients are not comparable in practice.

4.1. Injection devices and sample clean-up techniques

As discussed in section 2.2 of this paper, extracolumn bandbroadening is generally regarded as a source of volumetric dispersion. In the case of extracolumn bandbroadening originating from the injection valve – the loop volume of the injection valve is usually taken into account [2,7,101]. The maximum allowable injection volume V_{inj} for a nonretained compound – which generates a fractional loss θ^2 in column efficiency – can be estimated by:

$$V_{\rm inj}^2 = K^2 \sigma_{\rm inj}^2 = \theta^2 (K \pi r^2 \epsilon_t)^2 HL$$
(3)

where K^2 is a constant that characterizes the injection profile, i.e. the dispersion introduced by the injection valve. Note that Eq. (3) is only valid for small values of θ^2 . For an ideal delta function K^2 equals 12. Eq. (3) does not take into account postinjection extra-column bandbroadening processes, thus requires more complex expressions and will not be addressed in this paper [28].

From Eq. (3) the maximum allowable injection volume can be calculated when a 5% loss in column efficiency ($\theta^2 = 0.05$) is permitted. The results for micro, capillary and nanoscale LC columns are given in Table 2. Besides the injection volume, the injection time and the I.D. of the injection loop may

Table 2 Maximum injection volumes calculated for microcolumns of different I.D. and length $^{\circ}$

Column I.D.	Column length (cm)	$V_{\rm inj}$ (nl) ^a		
	8 ()	$d_{\rm p} = 3 \ \mu {\rm m}$	$d_{\rm p} = 5 \ \mu {\rm m}$	
1.0 mm	15.0	400	520	
	25.0	_ ^b	670	
300 µm	15.0	36	47	
	25.0	b	61	
75 μm	15.0	2.3	2.9	
	25.0	b	3.8	
	40.0	b	4.8	

^a A 5% loss in column efficiency was allowed ($\theta^2 = 0.05$).

 $^{\rm b}$ In practice 3 μ m particles are only applied in 15 cm columns or shorter due to the generated hydrodynamic resistance.

^c The total porosity ϵ_i was taken as 0.70. Ideal injection profiles $(K^2 = 12)$, and optimum mobile phase flow-rate and plate height $(2d_n)$ were assumed. The retention factor *k* equalled 0.

contribute to sample dispersion. The effect of the injection time on peak dispersion was described by Colin et al. [102]. Slais et al. [103] have given a detailed description concerning the effect of the injection loop I.D. on extra-column dispersion, the importance of which is clearly shown by their calculations. Both of these studies concerned the extracolumn effects in conventional high-performance liquid chromatography.

4.1.1. Small volume injections

As shown in Table 2, for 50-100 µm I.D. nanoscale LC columns injection volumes are in the order of a few nl up to approximately 1 µl for 1.0 mm I.D. columns. Manual injections ranging from a few µl down to approximately 20 nl can be routinely performed with injection valves equipped with an exchangable internal loop. Below 20 nl, manual valve injections can be performed by positioning a split vent between the injector and the column [104]. Alternatively, for these very small volumes the moving injection technique [105,106], the static split [107] or the pressure-pulse-driven stopped-flow injection technique [108] can be used, although they remain unpopular. What these techniques have in common is that by controlling the injection time and flow through the injector only a small part of the injection plug is injected on the top of the column. Automated injection in the μ l range can be easily performed by many commercially available autosamplers. However, injection automation in the nl range usually requires thorough hardware adjustments of a conventional autosampler. Such modifications of conventional autosamplers for use with capillary LC have been described in the literature [109]. Furthermore, the use of an automated microinjector has been described [110]. However, with this latter system multiple sample analysis was not possible. Recently, autosampler technology was introduced for injection from very small sample amounts and small quantities [111].

4.1.2. On-column focussing (large volume injections)

A general problem in microcolumn LC techniques is the loss of detection sensitivity due to the small injection volumes or masses. In a number of cases this problem can be overcome by the use of so-called on-column focusing techniques [112–116]. These techniques commonly have the sample solvent at significantly lower eluent strength compared to the actual eluent. After arrival of the sample plug onto the top of the column, the compounds will be focused in a small plug. Focusing enrichment factors of several hundreds have been reported, which significantly increased detectability in microcolumn LC techniques. For example, for the separation of a test mixture consisting of resorcinol, benzaldehyde, phenol, nitrobenzene and toluene under reversed-phase conditions, a focusing enrichment factor of 200 in micro LC could be achieved resulting in comparable chromatograms to standard injections [113].

Large volume injections are routinely applied for the analysis of proteins and peptides, especially in the case of in-gel digested proteins where the peptides present have to be extracted in several tenths of microliters resulting in very low sample concentrations. Since most gel-extracts contain moderate amounts of organic modifiers and most peptides are soluble in aqueous solutions, sample focussing is easily achieved on reversed-phase microcolumns. Specific examples will be presented in section 6. Recently, on-column focussing has been applied to environmental trace analysis for polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and acidic pesticides [117,118]. The latter application is very challenging, since acidic pesticides are extremely soluble in water and with polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons the solubility in the sample solvent should also be considered. As a rule of thumb, the sample solvent should contain 20-30% less organic modifier in order to focus the sample on top of the column [116,118]. If experimental conditions are sufficiently addressed, the limits of detection can be improved significantly. For example, a focusing enrichment factor of 800 in capillary LC was achieved for the separation and identification of acidic pesticides under reversedphase conditions [117].

4.1.3. Miniaturized precolumn and sample enrichment techniques

The loading time of a given sample volume under focusing conditions increases at decreasing column flow-rate. This technique is rendered impractical for capillary and nanoscale LC, yet it can be performed by the use of packed precolumns. These must be properly connected to the analytical column and are then essentially a part of the separation system. The advantages of this approach are that much larger sample flow-rates can be obtained during the sample-focusing step. In addition, the selectivity and isolation of the sample components of interest can be controlled by selecting a specific stationary phase for the precolumn [119–135].

Several groups reported on the construction of micro-precolumns and their use in capillary [128,131] and nanoscale LC [128]. Capillary LC precolumns are also commercially available. Most groups however reported on the use of a precolumn in microcolumn LC to enhance sample loading and for clean-up. Exceptions are the work of both Cai and Henion [124,134] and Miller and Herman [132], who used on-line immunoaffinity extraction incorporated in a microcolumn switching setup to selectively trap the target analytes. The outline of such a miniaturized immunoaffinity extraction setup is given in Fig. 2. All elements in this setup are representative of other microcolumn switching setups. In some cases - however - an additional precolumn is placed in front of the analytical column to trap the analytes [125,134]. Vissers et al. [125] used a microprecolumn switching system to remove sodium dodecyl sulphate from tryptic digested protein samples. The use of microprecolumns in nanoscale LC has also been described [129,130,135]. Oosterkamp et al. [135] studied the linearity and limits of detection of a nanoscale system for the analysis of peptides, Vanhoutte et al. [130] studied the sensitivity of a nanoscale column switching setup for the detection and identification of DNA adducts and van der Heeft et al. [129] applied it to the direct identification of peptides presented by major histocompatibility complex molecules.

Thordason et al. [136] reported on the use of a miniaturized supported liquid membrane device for sample preparation in capillary LC. The device consists of a hollow fiber that is placed into a KeIF block. The acceptor solution was kept stagnant and the donor (sample) solution transferred through the device at a flow-rate between $10-20 \ \mu l \ min^{-1}$. After sample enrichment, the acceptor solution was transferred into the sample loop of an injection valve, from where it was transferred to the analytical



Fig. 2. Column switching setup for capillary affinity chromatography with immunochemical detection. The reverse phase column was constructed from 20 cm \times 500 µm I.D. PEEK packed with a perfusion stationary phase. The affinity column was 1 cm \times 0.5 cm I.D. packed with polyclonal anti-granulocyte colony stimulating factor (GCSF) antibody that was immobilized on a cyanogen bromine-activated Sepharose gel. The GCSF column was constructed from 20 cm \times 800 µm I.D. Teflon tubing. GCSF was immobilized on 20 µm epoxide activated affinity media. (Adapted with permission from Ref. [132]. Copyright (1996) American Chemical Society.)

capillary LC column. The system was tested with a secondary amine as a model substance in aqueous solutions as well as in plasma. The extraction efficiency was found to be 32.5% and the enrichment per unit time was reported to be constant at approximately 0.9 times min⁻¹.

4.2. Detectors

UV absorption detection is common to both conventional and microcolumn LC as the most widely applied detection technique. Other types of detectors have been investigated in great detail by many research groups; specifically fluorescence, electrochemical and gas chromatographic detectors. However, the number of published papers on the latter type of mentioned detection techniques has been declining rapidly after the introduction of microcolumn LC. This was not only due to the ubiquitous nature of UV absorption detection, but principally due to the successful introduction of continuous-flow fast atom bombardment (FAB) and electrospray ionization mass spectrometry (ESI-MS). However, occasionally some papers are still published on fluorescence detection [137], refractive index detection [138,139] and flame based detectors [140]. Previously, these types of detectors are discussed extensively and typical applications presented [11,17–26,141]. In this paper, only UV absorption detection, fluorescence detection, electrochemical detection and some recent developments in detectors for miniaturized flow and separation systems will be addressed.

4.2.1. UV absorbance and photodiode array detection

The most universal detector is the UV absorbance detector because of its ease of use and broad application. To prevent extracolumn bandbroadening - i.e. keeping detection volumes at the submicroliter or nanoliter level - on-column detection is often a first approach. A packing-free part of the column is used as the optical window - i.e. detector cell - and is brought into the light path of an UV absorbance detector. The construction of such a cell has been discussed [142,143]. Vindevogel et al. [144] attempted to develop design guidelines for tubular UV absorbance detection flow cells. Their study involved the investigation of parameters such as reflection of the incident light on the capillary wall, the distance between the photodetector and the flow cell, changes in the refractive index of the mobile phase, different cell designs, wavelength, and both the linearity and noise. Due to the large variety of configurations no general recommendations could be given. It was suggested, however, that not only the I.D. of the flow cell in this type of studies should be mentioned, but also parameters relating to the light beam width and photocell distance should be included in the full description of a flow cell.

The main disadvantage of on-column detection is the limited concentration sensitivity, which is a function of the flow cell path length. Limits of detection reported for on-column detection for compounds like uracil, cytosine and thymine with a 100 μ m I.D. flow cell are typically around $1-5 \cdot 10^{-6}$ mol 1^{-1} [145]. Despite the extremely small path lengths, detection is possible at the subnanogram level. Fiber optics have been suggested to collimate the excitation light onto the flow cell and also collect the UV light that has passed through the flow cell [146,147]. The limits of detection that were obtained with this system are however not as favorable in comparison to on-column detection. A more successful approach towards improvement of the detection sensitivity with UV absorbance detection in microcolumn LC

was the introduction of longitudinal flow cells with an optical path length up to 3-8 mm [148]. This type of flow cell and on-column flow cells have been studied extensively with respect to sensitivity, linear dynamic range, and any contribution to extracolumn bandbroadening and noise [145,149]. The sensitivity of longitudinal type of cells is normally 50-100 times greater versus on-column detection. However, the noise of longitudinal cells is generally somewhat higher than with on-column UV detection. Consequently, limits of detection are about 25-50 times lower compared to on-column detection. For instance, the limit of detection for uracil with oncolumn detection was $3.1 \cdot 10^{-6}$ mol 1^{-1} and with the longitudinal flow cell equal to $9.8 \cdot 10^{-8}$ mol 1^{-1} [145]. The contribution of longitudinal flow cells to extracolumn bandbroadening, i.e. chromatographic resolution, is typically negligible.

Another approach that leads to an increase in path length of the detector flow cell is to increase the diameter of the capillary outlet of a column. In this case however only a limited region of the capillary is utilized [150]. This results in a larger detection region, which is explained by the 3-5 times I.D. increase of the capillary. Due to its shape - there is a smooth transition in diameter from the capillary to the widest portion of the cell – it is often referred to as a bubble cell [150]. Sensitivities with this type of flow cell are 3-5 times greater than compared to on-column detection. Furthermore, the bubble flow cell can be employed for single wavelength and diode array detection. The linear range for this cell was equal to 3-4 orders of magnitude for benzoic acid and thiourea. It must be noted that these results were obtained only using capillary electrophoresis and few applications exist for bubble cells in-line with microcolumn LC.

Photodiode array (PDA) detection has been studied extensively in regards to microcolumn LC research [151–155]. In practice it is however very rarely applied for structural conformation. For example, Verzele et al. [152] adapted two commercially available PDA detectors for capillary LC by replacing the detector cell with a miniaturized detector cell. Cell designs – with respect to loss in spectral resolution due to extracolumn bandbroadening – were discussed along with the sensitivity of conventional versus capillary LC. Limits of detection were found to be ten times lower with capillary LC – despite the small optical path length of the PDA flow cell. Another example is the work of Sandra et al. [151], who applied PDA detection in capillary LC for the detection and identification of hop bitter acids form CO₂ extracted hop samples. The recorded PDA UV spectra showed that two families of compounds could be differentiated: α -acids (humulones) and β -acids (lupulones). Capillary LC separation was favorable compared to conventional high-performance liquid chromatography and micellar elektrokinetic chromatography. Insufficient resolution obtained on conventional columns and solubility problems in micellar elektrokinetic chromatography contribute to these shortcomings.

4.2.2. Fluorescence detection

Fluorescence detection in microcolumn LC has been studied in great detail as a consequence of microcolumns being introduced. The increase in sensitivity with fluorescence detection in microcolumn LC is rather low compared to conventional high-performance liquid chromatography. This limited detection performance is due to the short optical path length and small excitation area of on-column flow cells. If higher excitation energies are obtained, larger fluorescence emission intensity will result. This however will not immediately lead to lower limits of detection, unless the noise - i.e. stray light, fluorescence from the wall of the cell or window. and fluorescence and Raman scattering of the mobile phase - is independent of the intensity of the excitation source [26]. With the use of collimating lasers, most of the noise sources - especially the fluorescence and Raman scattering originating from the mobile phase – can be reduced.

Various flow cell designs and instrumental set-ups for laser-induced fluorescence detection in conventional [26,156] and microcolumn LC [157,158] have been described. Mass limits of detection routinely observed are typically in the amol range. Often derivatization of the compounds of interest is required, which has been demonstrated by Novotny and co-workers [159,160] and McGuffin and Zare [161] for the analysis of carboxylic and bile acids respectively.

One unique feature of fluorescence detection is that emission spectra can be utilized to reveal structural information of unknown compounds, as demonstrated by Gluckman et al. [162,163] for the identification of very large polycyclic hydrocarbons from fuel oil extracts. Spectral subtraction was used to resolve co-eluting compounds that could not have been identified by mass spectrometry.

With fluorescence detection it is also possible to measure in the packing of the column, so-called in-column detection [164]. With in-column detection the analyte is in a partition region. It can be deduced that the sensitivity of in-column detection will be (1+k) times better as compared to on-column detection. This effect was demonstrated and found to be in agreement with theory by Verzele and Dewaele [164] for the analysis of drugs. However, other groups [165–167] have reported much higher signal-to-noise improvements, which was attributed to higher fluorescence quantum yields in the absorbed state. This effect has been observed for both reversed-phase [165] and chiral separations [166,167].

4.2.3. Electrochemical detection

The three basic detection modes of electrochemical detection are conductivity and amperometric and potentiometric detection. The principles of these different detection modes can be found in textbooks [24,168] and literature [17]. Amperometry is commonly employed because of its ease of use and versatility. The design and application of conductivity and potentiometric detectors for microcolumn LC have also been described for routine use [169– 173].

The initial developments in miniaturized electrochemical detection - and the use of micro-electrodes - were reported for open tubular liquid chromatography by the groups of Manz [174,175] and Jorgenson [176,177], which were also applied to microcolumn LC [85,88,89,165,178]. These detectors typically consist of a small wire that is placed into an outlet of an open tubular column. For instance, Manz and Simon [174,175] used a 1 µm diameter ionselective electrode for the potentiometric detection of \mathbf{K}^+ ions. Jorgenson et al. constructed a 9 µm diameter carbon electrode for the amperometric detection of catechols and ascorbic acid [176], and for the voltametric analysis of hydroquinone and catechol. Detection limits obtained with these detection systems are in the fmol-pmol range.

Many different cell designs for electrochemical detection can be found in the literature. Very simple, cost-effective flow-through cell designs for amperometric detection in capillary LC were designed by Ruban [179,180]. Other designs, including walljet cells [181,182], platinum coated tubular electrodes [183], platinum electrodes [184] and a carbon interdigeted array microelectrodes [185] have also been described. The simplicity of the design of an electrochemical detector for capillary LC separations is shown in Fig. 3.

As mentioned before, amperometric detection is the most commonly used electrochemical detection mode in microcolumn LC. However, since the potential of the electrode is held constant, only compounds that are easily oxidized and reduced at the set potential are detected. By scanning the potential - or by applying triangular potential waveform to the electrode - the selectivity and the information content about the components which are electroactive in the applied potential range may increase [17,186]. The latter technique – voltametric analysis – can provide real-time voltametric scans from components eluting from a micro or capillary LC column only when the waveform is applied quickly. Thus, analytes can be identified and coeluting peaks resolved if their voltagrams are significantly different. The major limitation of voltametry is its lower mass sensitivity in comparison to amperometric detection [17].

Voltametric detection has been applied in open tubular chromatography [176,177] and conventional liquid chromatography [187–189], yet for microcolumn LC it is generally limiting. One exception was presented by Goto and Shimada [186]. A rapidscanning electrochemical voltametric detector for capillary LC was introduced. Square-wave voltammetries were applied because of their suitability with rapid-potential scanning. It should be mentioned that scanning is the only viable option for ultra-micro wire detectors. With larger voltametric detection systems the diffusional delay virtually destroys the complete structure of the voltagram.

The main application area of electrochemical detection in microcolumn LC is in bioanalysis, especially the separation and detection of cathacholamines. A few examples are the detection of seratonin and its metabolites in rat brain dialysate [190], the analysis of terbutaline in human plasma [191], the detection of biogenic amines in brain tissue [192] and the in-vivo monitoring of neuropeptides using microdialysis sampling [193].

4.2.4. Other detection principles

Besides the detection techniques discussed above, other detection method have been studied for microcolumn LC. These include (Fourier transform) infrared spectrometry – either measured on-line [194] or via deposition on thin layer plates [195], chemiluminescence [196], indirect detection schemes [197–199], inductively coupled plasma atomic emission spectrometry [200], or evaporative light scattering [201]. These detection techniques have been applied with limited success and have not found for use with routine microcolumn LC due to the fact that the detection technique is either too selective or not robust enough.

Lewis et al. [202,203] studied the possibilities and usefulness of electrospray condensation particle counting detection as a sensitive and universal detector for miniaturized separation techniques. Although very promising results were reported in the size-exclusion chromatography mode, the detector was found to have nonlinear behavior in the re-



Fig. 3. The coupling of an electrochemical detector and a capillary LC column. (A) capillary LC column; (B) stainless steel union; (C) fused-silica cell; (D) end-column frit; (E) microelectrode assembly and (F) *xyz*-positioner. (Reprinted from Anal. Chim. Acta, 344, Wallenborg et al., A microchemical detector for use at low linear velocities in capillary column systems, 77–85, Ref. [184], Copyright (1997) with kind permission from Elsevier Science.)

versed-phase LC mode for the separation of proteins. This lack of linearity for the proteins investigated was attributed to the non-constant ratio of x-mers produced by the electrospray interface.

4.3. Temperature programming

A few research groups have looked into the possibilities of using elevated temperatures [204] or a temperature gradient in capillary LC [205,206]. Microcolumn separations were conducted by either superimposing a flow and temperature gradient [205] or by combining temperature programming and gradient elution [206]. Bio- and synthetic macromolecules have shown promise in this area in terms of increasing resolution. Although the presented results are in favor of conducting separation at high temperatures or with temperature gradients for testmixtures, no workable applications have been demonstrated yet.

5. Hyphenation

5.1. Multidimensional chromatography

As with flame-based detection systems, microcolumns are well suited for the coupling with secondary separation techniques, i.e. multidimensional chromatography. Microcolumn LC has been interfaced with thin layer chromatography applying infrared detection [207], conventional high-performance liquid chromatography [208], microcolumn LC [209–212], gas chromatography [213–219], supercritical chromatography [220] and capillary electrophoresis [221]. The coupling of individual separation techniques increases the total peak capacity of the chromatographic system, which is the product of the peak capacities of the individual dimensions. An overall improvement in the peak capacity allows for the separation of very complex samples.

The coupling of microcolumn LC with gas chromatographic (GC) techniques appears to be quite challenging since a liquid mobile phase has to be converted into a GC compatible vapor phase. Among the different type of interfaces, which have been developed, are retention gap based interfaces like on-column injectors [213] and loop-type interfaces

[214], pyrolysis interfaces and (multi-capillary) stream splitters. The retention gap based interfaces have been extensively applied which can be attributed to ease of use. Retention gaps were originally developed for the introduction of large sample volumes onto GC columns. An uncoated inlet capillary having negligible retention for the compounds of interest is placed in front of the GC column. The large solvent volume is vaporized and the solute bands spread out along the retention gap are concentrated at the top of the separation column. An example of a successful application of an on-column injector as an on-line interface for microcolumn LC-GC is given in Fig. 4, which illustrates the two-dimensional separation of a fuel oil sample. Heart-cutting was applied to introduce a part of the first dimension onto the secondary dimension separation system. Heart-cutting techniques allow only a fraction of the original sample to be separated and a total peak capacity that is typical for a single dimension.

The full separation power of a two-dimensional separation system was used by Holland and Jorgenson [209] to separate biological amines with anionexchange chromatography coupled to reversed-phase chromatography. Via a loop type interface, samples from the first dimension were temporarily stored, before transferring to the second dimension. To obtain a high sampling frequency - i.e. the rate at which the effluent of the first dimension separation column could be sampled – the 90 cm \times 100 μ m I.D. anion-exchange column was operated at a flow-rate of 33 nl min⁻¹, while the secondary 3 cm \times 100 μ m I.D. reversed-phase column was maintained at a flow-rate of 6 μ l min⁻¹. The peak capacity of the two-dimensional system was estimated to be close to 1400 peaks.

Another interesting method to achieve high sampling frequencies is the use of capillary electrophoresis (CE) as the second dimension, which allows for high efficiencies in a short time. Lemmo et al. [221] applied a two-dimensional separation system for the study of protein standards based on microcolumn size exclusion chromatography (SEC) and CE. Two approaches were presented – a loop/valve interface and a so-called flow gating interface. The chromatographic SEC dimension consisted of a 105 cm \times 250 µm I.D. or a 110 cm \times 100 µm I.D. column



Fig. 4. Two-dimensional separation of a fuel oil sample by microcolumn LC–GC. (A) Capillary LC chromatogram; (B) gas chromatogram; x = fraction introduced into the GC. Conditions capillary LC separation: column: 105 cm×250 µm I.D. packed with 7 µm silica; mobile phase: heptane; flow-rate: 10.6 µl.min⁻¹; UV absorption at 214 nm. GC conditions: column: 30 m×0.25 mm I.D.; retention gap 15 m×250 µm fused-silica; helium at 70 cm s⁻¹; flame ionization detection at 275°C (make up gas: nitrogen at 30 ml min⁻¹); oven at 105°C for 9 min and programmed to 245°C at 5°C min⁻¹. Peak identification: (1) chlorobenzene; (2) 1,2-dichlorobenzene; (3) 1,2,4,5-tetrachlorobenzenen; (4) 1,2,3,4-tetrachlorobenzene; (5) pentachlorobenzene; (6) hexachlorobenzene (reprinted from J. Chromatogr., 296, Cortes et al., Determination of trace chlorinated on-line multidimensional chromatography using packed-capillary liquid chromatography and capillary gas chromatography, 55–61, Ref. [213], Copyright (1985) with kind permission from Elsevier Science).

packed with a size exclusion stationary phase. The flow through these columns was 235-360 nl min⁻¹ or 23 nl min⁻¹ respectively. CE was performed in untreated 50 μ m I.D. fused-silica capillaries of different lengths with an applied voltage of ± 30 kV. Because of the relatively large dead-volume of the bores of the loop/valve interface it was only applicable for the coupling with the 250 μ m I.D. SEC column, i.e. too much extracolumn bandbroadening. Furthermore, the loop/valve interface hampered continuous sample collection. With the flow gating interface – which basically consists of a Teflon gasket having a 1 mm channel that is sandwiched in between two stainless steel plates – these problems were overcome. Injection into the CE capillary was achieved by selectively sending a transfer liquid flow through the Teflon channel or to waste. When the sample was transferred from the flow-gating interface to the CE capillary – i.e. when an injection was made onto the second dimension – the SEC effluent was sent to waste. An example of the results obtained with the new type of interface is given in Fig. 5, which depicts the two dimensional separation of protein standards by SEC–CZE.

5.2. Microcolumn LC-mass spectrometry

The introduction of continuous flow fast atom bombardment (FAB) and atmospheric pressure ionization (API) techniques such as electrospray ionization (ESI) and atmospheric pressure chemical ionization (APCI) have contributed greatly to the current success of microcolumn LC. One of the major driving forces behind the development of microcolumn LC is the availability of these different ionization techniques for mass spectrometry (MS). In fact, the first successfully applied microcolumn LC– MS interface was continuous flow FAB ionization. Other types of interfaces have been used for the coupling with mass spectrometry (MS) including



Fig. 5. Separation of protein standard by two-dimensional SEC– CZE with a flow gating interfaces. Each protein was present at 0.5% (w/v) with 2.5% (w/v) formamide. THYRO=thyroglobulin; BSA=bovine serum albumin; OVA = chicken egg albumin; MYO = horse hart myoglobulin; FA = formamide. The 110 cm×110 μ m I.D. SEC column was operated at a flow-rate of 20 nl min⁻¹. Injection was 8 min at 7 bar. The electrophoresis capillary had a length of 53 cm (33 cm to the detection window). CZE conditions: 30 s electromigration injection at 0 kV and 4 min overlapped runs at -11 kV. The actual CZE run time was 8 min. The buffer used for both separations was 10 mM tricine, 25 mM Na₂SO₄, 0.005% sodium azide (w/v), pH 8.23 (reprinted with permission from reference [221]. Copyright (1993) American Chemical Society).

electron impact and chemical ionization [222-226] and the particle beam interface [227-230]. Interfaces like the moving belt interface [231] and thermospray-type of interfaces [232] are rarely applied. These types of interfaces and their use in microcolumn LC-MS have been reviewed and summarized recently by Tomer et al. [233]. Only atmospheric based interfaces and the recent developments in automated off-line and on-line coupling of matrixassisted laser desorption ionization (MALDI) mass spectrometry with microcolumn LC will be discussed in this review, even though on-line use of continuous flow FAB occasionally still appears in literature [234–238]. Microcolumns can either be directly coupled to the ion source or more generally via transfer lines. The latter will obviously increase bandbroadening and decrease the chromatographic resolution.

5.2.1. Electrospray ionization

Electrospray ionization (ESI) was almost simultaneously introduced with CF–FAB and has become a very routinely used technique for the analysis of biochemical macromolecules. ESI is by far the most popular and most widespread ionization technique in on-line LC–MS. It is both a simple and an elegant method; it can handle small and large molecules, operates at atmospheric pressure and relatively low temperatures, and provides soft molecule ionization. The mechanistic aspects of electrospray ionization have been recently discussed by Bruins [239].

The first electrospray interface for LC–MS was introduced by Whitehouse et al. and reported to have a linear behavior of four orders of magnitude [240]. Furthermore, the mass spectrometer signal intensity was found to be almost independent of the liquid flow-rate. Hence, ESI interface can be operated at extremely low mobile flow-rates that are typically used with nanoscale LC columns, resulting in extremely low mass sensitivity limits of detection. LC–ESI-MS interfaces have also a near-linear relationship upon the concentration of the analyte, making it an important tool in quantitative analysis.

Since the introduction of electrospray, the design of the interface has undergone many changes and has been the subject of a number of research papers. Recently, Alexander et al. [241] described a nanoelectrospray source for nanoscale LC and CE without



Fig. 6. Schematic diagram of an electrospray interface used in nanoscale-LC-ESI-MS experiments (adapted with permission from Ref. [241]. Copyright (1998) John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.).

the need of make-up flows. A schematic diagram of this interface design is given in Fig. 6. Unique to this design was the use of a spherical stainless steel lens with a 200 μ m orifice. Dry nitrogen gas was introduced at 5–10 l min⁻¹ to assist in droplet solvation. The tapered ESI tip was prepared from 50 μ m I.D.×302 μ m O.D. stainless steel tube. The capillary voltage was held at +3.6 kV, the cone voltage at 40 V and the source temperature was 23°C. The flow-rate going through the interface ranged between 50–200 nl min⁻¹. At a flow-rate between 100 and 200 nl min⁻¹ stable ion intensity in the infusion mode was observed for polypropyleneglycol in methanol/water (50:50, v/v).

As a result of the applied electric field, charged droplets will be produced. Details on the ionization process can be found elsewhere. Theory is however not completely understood [239,242]. ESI interfaces as with many other MS interfaces can be coupled with capillary LC either directly or via a transfer line, the advantages and limitations of which have been mentioned earlier. The primary applications of capillary and nanoscale LC–ESI-MS have been in protein and peptide analysis. An extensive literature

overview of ESI-MS in conjunction with capillary and nanoscale LC has been published [233]. In the application section some selected examples will be discussed, demonstrating the successful use of microcolumn LC–ESI-MS.

Microcolumn LC–ESI-MS is still under development. Current research is focussed on achieving even lower limits of detection. Examples are the coupling of micro and nanoscale LC columns with an ESI interface to an orthogonal time-of-flight mass spectrometer [243], the use of capillary LC columns with an ESI source interfaced to ion trap mass spectrometers [244–246] and ion trap storage/reflectron timeof-flight mass spectrometer [247,248], and the application of collision induced dissociation in capillary LC–ESI-MS for the analysis of complex sample mixtures [249].

5.2.2. Automated off-line matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization mass spectrometry

Matrix assisted laser desorption ionization (MALDI)-MS is regarded as a complementary technique to ESI-MS, even though many compounds can

be analyzed with both ionization techniques. The main advantage of ESI lies in the ease of interfacing with liquid based separation techniques, where MALDI is somewhat more straightforward for the analysis of complex biological samples because of its high sensitivity, easily interpretable mass spectra and its relatively low suspension to salts and detergents.

To overcome "the on-line problem", a number of researchers have developed automated fractionation techniques to collect directly onto the MALDI– target. MALDI–target sizes are usually in the range of a few microliters. Hence, the application of conventional high-performance liquid chromatography would overflow the target, which can be circumvented by postcolumn splitting techniques. However, this will reduce the overall sensitivity of the technique and the sample is often unnecessarily consumed. Matrix-solution is either placed on the target prior or after collection of the fractions onto the target, or alternatively, the matrix-solution is added postcolumn via a tee to the mobile phase.

Micro and capillary size exclusion chromatography have been combined in an automated off-line fashion by Nielen [250] and Yun et al. [251], respectively, for the analysis of polymer samples. Nielen [250] used MALDI-MS in combination with UV absorption detection for the absolute mass calibration of polymers with a very narrow molecular weight distribution. Yun et al. [251] used the MAL-DI-MS data as complementary information to the data generated by capillary size exclusion chroma-

tography. For the separation of proteins, Grimm and Grasser [252] applied capillary LC-automated offline MALDI-MS. Separation and identification of the proteins from an extract of immature maize kernels was conducted at the nanogram scale. The same fraction collection device was used to collect onto inert membranes for protein sequence analysis by Edman degradation and onto nitrocellulose membranes for Western blot analysis, which is experimentally interesting. Information obtained from randomly selected protein fractions by means of MALDI-MS analysis was found to be in good agreement with sequencing data. The MALDI-MS data also confirmed the results of Western-blot analysis to selectively identify the DNA-binding protein. Ground breaking work on nanoscale LC-MALDI-MS for the analysis of peptides in single neurons has been published by Hsieh et al. [253]. Identification of peptides present in the brain of a snail was achieved on basis of retention time and mass spectral information. In addition, sequencing of one of the native peptides was conducted by means of post-source decay techniques. Grimm et al. [254] used capillary LC-MALDI-MS for the analysis of linear and branched oligosaccharides. MALDI-MS reduced sample handling and provided molecular weight information for neutral and silvlated oligosaccharides. Otherwise derivatization of the saccharides had to be performed to be able to conduct UV absorption detection. Fig. 7 shows the sample information that can be attained with such a system.



Fig. 7. Capillary LC separation of the components of a dextran ladder. The inserts show the MALDI spectra of components 7 and 8 respectively. The separation was conducted on a 25 cm \times 300 μ m I.D. column packed with a C₁₈ reversed-phase with a flow-rate of 2 μ l min⁻¹, using a gradient from 10 to 25% B in 35 min and remaining at 25% B for a further 20 min. Solvent A was 100 mM ammonium acetate pH 6.5 and solvent B 100% acetonitrile (adapted with permission from Ref. [254]. Copyright (1998) American Chemical Society).

5.2.3. On-line matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization mass spectrometry

Other approaches of microcolumn LC-MALDI-MS include the on-line coupling of microcolumn separation techniques coupled to MALDI-MS. Online MALDI-MS requires that the liquid samples be directly analyzed in the vacuum of the mass spectrometer, making microcolumn separation techniques a very attractive tool to perform on-line analysis. At present no universal on-line MALDI interface for simple and sensitive analysis of minute samples is commercially available. However, a variety of designs are being evaluated. For example, a continuous flow probe similar to a continuous flow FAB interfaces has been described for the analysis of flowing samples with a liquid matrix [255]. In another design, the exit of a capillary zone electrophoresis column was placed directly in the vacuum region of a time-of-flight mass spectrometer [256]. The sample ions - eluting in a solution of CuCl₂ were desorbed/ ionized by laser irradiating at the end of the separation capillary. In a recent publication, an interface is described that consists of the deposition of a sample liquid stream at flow-rates of 100 - 400 nl \min^{-1} onto a rotating surface inside the vacuum region of the mass spectrometer [257]. Even with the design adjustments, the interface still require the analytes stream to be premixed with a suitable matrix.

5.3. Microcolumn LC-nuclear magnectic resonance

A novel approach towards detection miniaturization is the coupling between continuous-flow techniques – such as microcolumn LC and capillary electrophoresis – and nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy (NMR) [258–261]. The hyphenation of microcolumn LC with NMR has a number of advantages as compared to conventional high-performance liquid chromatography coupled with NMR spectroscopy. Due to the low solvent consumption fully deuterated solvents can be used. Suppression of the solvent signal is not necessary allowing the use of the complete chemical shift range for structural elucidation. Furthermore, theoretical and feasibility studies have shown that a 400-fold reduction in cell volume only results in a 2-fold reduction in signalto-noise ratio, promoting the use of 50 nl volume continuous-flow NMR detection cells [259]. Shortcomings of continuous-flow NMR are poor sensitivity due to limited measuring time with each individual analyte, the flow-rate dependency of the NMR line width and the relatively large (high m*M* level) required analyte concentrations. Further, substantial bandbroadening and loss of chromatographic resolution is observed in NMR flow-trough cells. However, this is often compensated by the benefits of structural information detection NMR provides.

Continuous flow-detection allows for the use of proton NMR chemical shift values in the second dimension, as shown for the separation and identification of humulones, the main constituents of beer that are responsible for its bitter taste [261]. Twodimensional NMR spectra are often recorded with stop-flow techniques. For example, a two-dimensional chromatogram of an isohumulone sample, including stereoisomers, homologues, isomers and impurities is shown in Fig. 8, where the aliphatic region of the NMR spectra is given in the second dimension. Solvent compression was not necessary in this instance due to the unrestricted use of deuterated solvents with capillary LC. However, no information about the chromatographic efficiency of the twodimensional capillary LC-NMR system is available.

6. Applications

Microcolumn LC is applicable over a variety of different fields. Presently, its main application areas are bioanalysis, neuroscience and protein/peptide research. Sample availability and mass spectrometric compatibility are the main reasons behind the continued success. Other application areas are chiral separations and the analysis of industrial samples, such as polymers and additives [262]. The analysis of chemical warfare agents by capillary LC–ESI-MS [263] and the quantitative analysis of pesticides by solid-phase extraction-capillary LC [264] has been reported.

6.1. Protein/peptide research

The number of applications that can be found in literature that concern the analysis of biological



Fig. 8. Capillary LC–NMR chromatogram of the separation of an isohumulone mixture. The capillary LC system comprised a 20 cm×250 μ m I.D. column packed with 5 μ m C₁₈ stationary phase. The mobile phase consisted of 0.05% phosphoric acid in D₂O/CD₃CN (40:60, v/v). A complete ¹H NMR spectrum was taken from 64 –128 consecutive scans (8000 point free induction decays over a 6024 Hz spectral window). The total acquisition time per row was 1 min 34 s for 64 scans and 3 min 8 s for 128 scans, respectively (adapted with permission from Ref. [258]. Copyright (1998) American Chemical Society).

compounds are numerous. Among the best examples in terms of microcolumn LC can be found in the protein/peptide research. For example, Henzel et al. [265-267] published a method, which isolated and identified proteins from two-dimensional gels by means of capillary LC and mass spectrometry analysis. Typically, a protein is characterized by means of an in-situ digestion after which the generated peptides are analyzed by means of MALDI-MS and capillary LC followed by ESI-MS or by protein sequencing. The combination of all these analysis results to the complete amino acid sequence of the protein. A typical example of a capillary LC separation from an in-situ digested, 2-dimensional gelelectrophoresis protein spot is given in Fig. 9. The most time-consuming steps in these type of protein characterization techniques are the manual sample preparations that are required for recovery of the protein from the gel. Nevertheless, this particular example shows that capillary LC can contribute significantly in the discovery and identification of proteins.

Other, similar examples have been published by Yates et al. [268,269]. The tandem mass spectra of modified and unmodified phosphorylated peptides, and high molecular weight proteins isolated with two-dimensional gel-electrophoresis were used to determine the amino acid sequence of the peptide and proteins respectively. This method employs a reverse pseudo-mass spectral library search. For each amino acid sequence that has some similarity to the sequence represented in the observed tandem mass spectrum a library spectrum is predicted for the sequence and compared to the tandem mass spectrum.

Tempst et al. have reported the micro LC purification of peptides for combined chemical sequencing and MALDI-MS [270], and have described in detail on the microcolumn LC assembly and fraction collection, sample handling and peak selection for sequencing [271]. An experimentally detailed discussion on the description of the capillary LC system and miniaturized sample preparation has been published by Moritz et al. [272] on protein isolation and peptide mapping with capillary LC. Tryptic peptide maps derived from in-situ digested murine plasmacytoma were developed on a 0.2 mm I.D. capillary columns. Kassel et al. [273] evaluated packed capillary perfusion columns for rapid analysis and sequencing of enzymatic digest with ESI-MS-MS. 180, 320 and 1000 µm I.D. LC columns packed with small pore materials or perfusion particles were directly coupled to the ESI source of the mass spectrometer. With capillary perfusion columns retention times were reduced by 3–5 times with only a minor loss in chromatographic resolution. However, capillary perfusion LC-MS permitted for the identification of the same peptide fragments at the 25-50 pmol level. Kientz et al. [274] applied flow-injection capillary LC-ESI-MS to determine the molecular mass of a high-molecular-weight protein. Additional evidence of identification was obtained by detecting the presence of a disulfide bridge and by tryptic digestion of the protein. Collision induced dissocia-



Fig. 9. Total ion current chromatogram obtained from an on-line capillary LC–ESI-MS analysis of an in-situ digestion of a protein spot from a two-dimensional gel. The amount of protein was~2 pmol. Peptide separation was conducted on a 180 μ m I.D. capillary LC column (reprinted with permission from Ref. [267]).

tion (CID) spectra were recorded to determine the amino acid sequence of the major digest fragments.

All of the previously discussed examples refer to MS as the identification method for the peptide fragments. Battersby et al. [275] demonstrated the characterization of recombinant DNA-derived human growth hormone (rhGH) isolated from an in-vivo rat model using capillary LC. The chemical changes that occur in rhGH following intravenous administration were identified by the retention time. Prior to characterization, the protein of interest was isolated with an affinity column, the recovered protein was then digested and analyzed on a capillary LC column. Deamination and oxidation of rhGH were found to occur in-vivo and were identified at the sub pmol level (<10 pmol).

6.2. Chiral separations

The chromatographic analysis of enantiomers is a rapidly growing research area, which has also been the subject of early microcolumn LC studies. Microcolumn LC is an applicable technique for enatiomeric separations since it is possible to apply new types of stationary phases that are normally very costly such as monoclonal antibodies and receptor proteins [276]. Furthermore, the consumption of expensive stereoselective mobile phase additives is lower, and the chromatographic efficiency and selectivity higher. The latter is not yet understood, but experimental data show improved plate numbers and chromatographic separation factors on capillary LC columns.

Chiral separations can be achieved by the use of chiral stationary phases [276-281], a chiral selector that is adsorbed on the packing material [276,282,283] or by using chiral mobile phase additives [276,284-287]. For instance, Takeuchi and co-workers [284-286] demonstrated the use of βand γ -cyclodextrin as mobile phase additive for the separation of dansylated phenylalanine analogs [284] and phosphate enantiomers with ordinary octadecylsilica as the reversed-phase [285,286]. This, in contrast to the work of D'Aquarica et al. [287], who applied covalently bonded N,N'-3,5dinitrobenzoyl derivatives of trans-1,2-diaminocyclohexane as the chiral selector. The cost was significantly reduced for these smaller I.D. columns which allowed for the use of mobile phase additives and specially modified stationary phases.

6.3. Bioanalysis and neuroscience

On-line capillary LC - interfaced with either continuous-flow FAB-MS-MS or ESI-MS-MS was applied by Vouros et al. [288,289] for the detection of in-vivo formed DNA adducts. This technique was used for rapid screening of the reaction between carcinogenic adducts and calf thymus DNA in order to elucidate the nature of the biochemical interaction [288]. Multiple reaction monitoring provided limits of detection below 50 fmol. Further, the technique was able to detect structural data of the adducts that were formed. In a successive paper a similar application was demonstrated where heterocyclic aromatic amine DNA adducts of food derived carcinogenic compounds were detected [289]. The limit of detection of the target adduct was approximately 80 fmol, which was achieved by monitoring characteristic fragmentation patterns.

Vouros also reported on the analysis of vitamin D metabolites that may have a therapeutic effect in the treatment of leukemia [290]. However, overdosage of this steroidal hormone can cause adverse side effects. Capillary LC-tandem MS was employed to provide a high degree of sensitivity and selectivity at low levels. A derivatization step was introduced by reacting the vitamin D metabolites with 4-phenyl-1,2,4-triazoline-3,5-dione followed by continuous-flow FAB for characterization.

Femtogram detection limits for biogenic amines in rat brain tissues using micro LC with electrochemical detection was reported by Caliguri and Mefford [192]. The chromatographic separation of some indoleamine standards on a 25 cm \times 1.0 mm I.D. micro LC column is given in Fig. 10. The chromatogram represents the quantity of two compounds present in 0.84 µg of tissue. Under the reported conditions it would be feasible to quantitate the indoles in only 90 ng of tissue, which was in agreement with concentration values found in the literature.



Fig. 10. Micro LC separation of an indole amine standard at the limit of detection level (left) and indoleamines in rat hypothalmus extract 0.94 μ g tissue (right). Column: 25 cm×1.0 mm I.D. packed with 5 μ m C₁₈; mobile phase: 0.1 *M* sodium acetate, 0.02 *M* acetate, 0.02 *M* citric acid, 50 mg 1⁻¹ EDTA, 100 mg 1⁻¹ sodium octyl sulphate and 4.5% acetonitrile (v/v); flow-rate: 40–50 μ l min⁻¹; detection: +0.6 V vs. Ag/AgCl. Compound identification: (2) 5-hydroxy-tryptamine–HCl; (3) 5-hydroxy-indoleacetic acid (adapted from Brain. Res., 296, Caliguri and Mefford, Femtogram detection limits for biogenic amines using microbore HPLC with electrochemical detection, 156–159, Ref. [192], Copyright (1984) with kind permission from Elsevier Science).

Straub et al. [291] determined β -lactam residues in milk using perfusion capillary LC combined with ESI-MS. The separation detection of six key components was presented. β -lactam antibiotics are a widely used drug in veterinary medicine for the treatment of bacterial infections and are assigned as target high priority drugs. The ability to confirm these β -lactam residues at the 10 ppb level was regarded as a significant breakthrough. Further, the ability to concentrate and analyze the components in less than 13 min was critical for repetitive screening.

The determination of enzyme activity in single cells was presented by Hsieh and Jorgenson [292], who applied nanoscale LC for the separation of isotopically labeled catecholamines. A relationship between the type of cathecholamine and the enzyme activity of the cell was established. Eeckhoudt et al. [293] reported on the development of an assay for an anesthetic component compound which is a shortacting benzodiapenzine with hypnotic properties, and its main metabolite in human plasma. The limits of quantification were determined by means of micro LC with UV detection. The applicability of the method was demonstrated by studying the pharmokinetic in human volunteers. Hutton and Games [294] reported on the analysis of β -blockers by means of capillary LC-APCI-MS. Since the column flow was too low to ionize the drugs with a standard APCI source, a make up flow was added. Nevertheless, eight β-blockers were separated and identified in the full-scan-mode. Femtomol limits of detection could be achieved when the consecutive-reacting monitoring mode was selected.

Esmans and co-workers reported on the use of ion-pair capillary LC–ESI-MS for the analysis of cyclic nucleotides [295] and micro and capillary LC–MS–MS for the analysis of plant hormones [296]. The former study focused on the analytical conditions for conducting ion-pair chromatography in conjunction with ESI-MS. The low flow-rates and low ion-pair reagent concentration allowed the mass spectrometer to be coupled with ion-pair chromatography over a long period operation time. The later study focused on large volume injections using column-switching techniques, limits of detection and linearity of the technique for the analysis of plant hormones. A strictly qualitative method based on micro-LC–ESI-MS–MS to confirm the presence of anabolic hormone residues in bovine blood was presented by Draisci et al. [297]. Recovery studies with spiked samples were conducted to determine the accuracy of the developed method and its suitability for the detection of natural anabolic hormones in bovine serum.

Karlson [298] investigated post-column modification of the mobile phase in nanoscale and capillary LC–MS with alkali metal ions in order to form charged adduct ions. The target molecules investigated included modified cyclodextrins and oligosaccarides, bafilomycins and 18-crown-6. The optimum cation concentration was found to be independent of the type of cation and the relative sensitivity was found to increase slightly with the cation size. The signal-to-noise ratio could be improved by a factor of 20 for a cyclodextrin in the flow-injection-mode at 3 μ l min⁻¹.

The presented applications in this paper cover only a small part of microcolumn LC applications that can be found in literature. However, this section gives a thorough overview of microcolumn LC and demonstrates the versatility of the technique by virtue of the many areas of application.

Acknowledgements

The author gratefully acknowledges Dr. Katherine Evans of LC Packings USA for proofreading the manuscript.

References

- [1] D. Ishii, T. Takeuchi, Trends Anal. Chem. 9 (1990) 152.
- [2] K. Jinno, C. Fujinoto, LC·GC 7 (1989) 328.
- [3] M. Novotny, Anal. Chem. 60 (1988) 502A.
- [4] M. Verzele, C. Dewaele, M. De Weerdt, LC·GC 6 (1988) 966.
- [5] K. Jinno, Chromatographia 25 (1988) 1004.
- [6] M. Novotny, J. High Resolut. Chromatogr. Chromatogr. Commun. 10 (1987) 248.
- [7] M. Verzele, C. Dewaele, in: F. Bruner (Ed.), The Science of Chromatography (Journal of Chromatography Library, No. 32), Elsevier, Amsterdam, 1985, p. 435.
- [8] F.J. Yang, J. High Resolut. Chromatogr. Chromatogr. Commun. 6 (1983) 348.
- [9] D. Ishii, T. Takeuchi, Rev. Anal. Chem. 6 (1982) 87.

- [10] M. Novotny, Anal. Chem. 53 (1981) 1294A.
- [11] J.P.C. Vissers, H.A. Claessens, C.A. Cramers, J. Chromatogr. A 779 (1997) 1.
- [12] T. Takeuchi, Fresenius J. Anal. Chem. 337 (1990) 631.
- [13] M. Verzele, C. Dewaele, Chromatogr. Sci. 45 (1989) 37.
- [14] M. Verzele, C. Dewaele, J. High Resolut. Chromatogr. Chromatogr. Comm. 10 (1987) 280.
- [15] D. Ishii, T. Takeuchi, Adv. Chromatogr. 21 (1983) 131.
- [16] M. Novotny, J. Chromtogr. Sci. 18 (1980) 473.
- [17] A.G. Ewing, J.M. Mesaros, P.G. Galvin, Anal. Chem. 66 (1994) 527A.
- [18] J.W. Jorgenson, J. De Wit, Chem. Anal. 121 (1992) 395.
- [19] Ch.E. Kientz, U.A.Th. Brinkman, Trends Anal. Chem. 12 (1993) 363.
- [20] E.S. Yeung, W.G. Kuhr, Anal. Chem. 63 (1991) 275A.
- [21] J. C Gluckman, M.V. Novotny, Chromatogr. Sci. 45 (1989) 145.
- [22] B.G. Belenkii, J. Chromatogr. 434 (1988) 337.
- [23] N. Sagliano, R.A. Hartwick, J. Chromatogr. Sci. 24 (1986) 506.
- [24] M. Goto, in: M.V. Novotny, D. Ishii (Eds.), Microcolumn Separations (Journal of Chromatography Library, No. 30), Elsevier, Amsterdam, 1985, p. 309.
- [25] K. Jinno, C. Fujimoto, Y. Hirata, D. Ishii, in: M.V. Novotny, D. Ishii (Eds.), Microcolumn Separations (Journal of Chromatography Library, No. 30), Elsevier, Amsterdam, 1985, p. 177.
- [26] E.S. Yeung, in: M.V. Novotny, D. Ishii (Eds.), Microcolumn Separations (Journal of Chromatography Library, No. 30), Elsevier, Amsterdam, 1985, p. 117.
- [27] V.V. Berry, H.E. Schwartz, Chromatogr. Sci. 45 (1989) 67.
- [28] J.C. Gluckman, M.V. Novotny, in: M.V. Novotny, D. Ishii (Eds.), Microcolumn Separations (Journal of Chromatography Library, No. 30), Elsevier, Amsterdam, 1985, p. 57.
- [29] H.J. Cortes, Chromatogr. Sci. 45 (1989) 211.
- [30] C.G. Horváth, B.A. Preiss, S.R. Lipsky, Anal. Chem. 39 (1967) 1422.
- [31] C.G. Horváth, S.R. Lipsky, Anal. Chem. 41 (1969) 1227.
- [32] D. Ishii, K. Asai, K. Hibi, T. Jonokuchi, M. Nagaya, J. Chromatogr. 144 (1977) 157.
- [33] D. Ishii, K. Hibi, K. Asai, T. Jonokuchi, J. Chromatogr. 151 (1978) 147.
- [34] D. Ishii, K. Hibi, K. Asai, M. Nagaya, J. Chromatogr. 152 (1978) 341.
- [35] D. Ishii, K. Hibi, K. Asai, M. Nagaya, K. Mochizuki, Y. Mochida, J. Chromatogr. 156 (1978) 173.
- [36] D. Ishii, A. Hirose, K. Hibi, Y. Iwasaki, J. Chromatogr. 157 (1978) 43.
- [37] D. Ishii, A. Hirose, I. Horiuchi, J. Radioanal. Chem. 45 (1978) 7.
- [38] F.J. Yang, J. Chromatogr. 236 (1982) 265.
- [39] T. Takeuchi, D. Ishii, J. Chromatogr. 213 (1981) 25.
- [40] T. Takeuchi, D. Ishii, J. High Resolut. Chromatogr. Chromatogr. Commun. 49 (1981) 469.
- [41] Y. Hirata, M. Novotny, J. Chromatogr. 186 (1979) 521.
- [42] T. Tsuda, M. Novotny, Anal. Chem. 50 (1978) 632.
- [43] T. Tsuda, M. Novotny, Anal. Chem. 50 (1978) 271.

- [44] C. Dewaele, M. Verzele, J. High Resolut. Chromatogr. Chromatogr. Commun. 1 (1978) 174.
- [45] C.E. Reese, R.P.W. Scott, J. Chromatogr. Sci. 18 (1980) 479.
- [46] R.P.W. Scott, J. Chromatogr. Sci. 18 (1980) 49.
- [47] P. Kuchera, J. Chromatogr. 198 (1980) 93.
- [48] R.P.W. Scott, P. Kuchera, J. Chromatogr. 169 (1979) 51.
- [49] R.P.W. Scott, P. Kuchera, M. Munroe, J. Chromatogr. 186 (1979) 475.
- [50] C. Eckers, K.K. Cuddy, J.D. Henion, J. Liq. Chromatogr. 6 (1983) 2383.
- [51] Y. Hirata, K. Jinno, J. High Resolut. Chromatogr. Chromatogr. Commun. 6 (1983) 96.
- [52] W.T. Kok, U.A.Th. Brinkman, R.W. Frei, H.B. Hanekamp, F. Nooitgedacht, H. Poppe, J. Chromatogr. 237 (1982) 357.
- [53] Y. Guan, L. Zhou, Z. Shang, J. High Resolut. Chromatogr. 15 (1992) 434.
- [54] G. Crescentini, A.R. Mastrogiacomo, J. Microcol. Sep. 3 (1991) 539.
- [55] G. Crescentini, F. Bruner, F. Mangani, Y. Guan, Anal. Chem. 60 (1988) 1659.
- [56] A. Malik, W. Li, M.L. Lee, J. Microcol. Sep. 5 (1993) 361.
- [57] W. Li, A. Malik, M.L. Lee, J. Microcol. Sep. 6 (1994) 557.
- [58] D. Tong, K.D. Bartle, A.A. Clifford, J. Microcol. Sep. 6 (1994) 249.
- [59] D. Tong, K.D. Bartle, A.A. Clifford, A.M. Edge, J. Microcol. Sep. 7 (1995) 265.
- [60] R. Trones, A. Iveland, T. Greibrokk, J. Microcol. Sep. 7 (1995) 505.
- [61] P. Koivisto, R. Danielsson, K.E. Markides, J. Microcol. Sep. 9 (1997) 87.
- [62] S. Hoffmann, L. Blomberg, Chromatographia 24 (1987) 416.
- [63] J.C. Gluckman, A. Hirose, V.L. McGuffin, M. Novotny, Chromatographia 17 (1983) 303.
- [64] R.F. Meyer, R.A. Hartwick, Anal. Chem. 56 (1984) 2211.
- [65] P. Roumeliotism, N. Chatziathanassiou, K.K. Unger, Chromatographia 19 (1984) 145.
- [66] T.M. Zimina, R.M. Smith, P. Meyers, B.W. King, Chromatographia 40 (1995) 662.
- [67] K. Baechmann, I. Haag, T. Prokop, Fresenius J. Anal. Chem. 345 (1993) 545.
- [68] F. Francolini, C. Borra, M. Novotny, Anal. Chem. 59 (1987) 2428.
- [69] P. Welling, H. Poppe, J.C. Kraak, J. Chromatogr. 321 (1985) 450.
- [70] J.C. Kraak, LC Mag. 3 (1985) 88.
- [71] H. Menet, P. Gareil, M. Caude, R. Rosset, Chromatographia 18 (1984) 73.
- [72] J.C. Gluckman, J.C. Hirose, V.L. McGuffin, M. Novotny, Chromatographia 17 (1983) 303.
- [73] A. Capiello, P. Palma, F. Mangani, Chromatographia 32 (1991) 389.
- [74] M. Verzele, C. Dewaele, M. De Weerdt, S. Abbott, J. High Resolut. Chromatogr. 12 (1989) 164.
- [75] S.M. Han, D.W. Armstrong, Anal. Chem. 59 (1987) 1583.
- [76] K. Masaharu, Y. Mori, T. Amano, Anal. Chem. 57 (1985) 2235.

- [77] D. Tong, R.L. Moritz, J.S. Eddes, G.E. Reid, R.K. Rasmussen, D.S. Dorow, R.J. Simpson, J. Protein. Chem. 16 (1997) 425.
- [78] J.P.C. Vissers, H.A. Claessens, J. Laven, C.A. Cramers, Anal. Chem. 67 (1995) 2103.
- [79] J.P.C. Vissers, E.C.J. van den Hoef, H.A. Claessens, J. Laven, C.A. Cramers, J. Microcol. Sep. 7 (1995) 239.
- [80] D.C. Shelly, T.J. Edkins, J. Chromatogr. 411 (1987) 185.
- [81] D.C. Shelly, V.L. Antonucci, T.J. Edkins, T.J. Dalton, J. Chromatogr. 458 (1989) 267.
- [82] R.J. Boughtflouwer, T. Underwood, J. Maddin, Chromatographia 41 (1995) 398.
- [83] M.M. Ditmann, K. Wienand, F. Bek, G.P. Rozing, LC·GC 13 (1995) 800.
- [84] J.H. Knox, I.H. Grant, Chromatographia 32 (1991) 317.
- [85] R.T. Kennedy, J.W. Jorgenson, Anal. Chem. 61 (1989) 1128.
- [86] K.E. Karlsson, M. Novotny, Anal. Chem. 60 (1988) 1662.
- [87] W.H. Wilson, H.M. McNair, Y.F. Man, K.F. Hyver, J. High Resolut. Chromatogr. 13 (1990) 18.
- [88] S. Hsieh, J.W. Jorgenson, Anal. Chem. 68 (1996) 1212.
- [89] J.E. MacNair, K.C. Lewis, J.W. Jorgenson, Anal. Chem. 69 (1997) 983.
- [90] S. Hjertén, J.-L. Liao, R. Zhang, J. Chromatogr. 473 (1989) 273.
- [91] F. Svec, J.M.J. Fréchet, Anal. Chem. 64 (1992) 820.
- [92] H. Minakuchi, K. Nakanishi, N. Soga, N. Ishizuka, N. Tanaka, Anal. Chem. 68 (1996) 3498.
- [93] S.M. Fields, Anal. Chem. 68 (1996) 2709.
- [94] A. Palm, M.V. Novotny, Anal. Chem. 69 (1997) 4499.
- [95] C. Ericson, J.-L. Liao, K. Nakazato, S. Hjertén, J. Chromatogr. A 767 (1997) 33.
- [96] E.C. Peters, M. Petro, F. Svec, J.M.J. Fréchet, Anal. Chem. 69 (1997) 3646.
- [97] E.C. Peters, M. Petro, F. Svec, J.M.J. Fréchet, Anal. Chem. 70 (1998) 2288.
- [98] E.C. Peters, M. Petro, F. Svec, J.M.J. Fréchet, Anal. Chem. 70 (1998) 2296.
- [99] R. Asiaie, X. Huang, D. Farnan, C. Horváth, J. Chromatogr. A 806 (1998) 251.
- [100] M.T. Dulay, R.P. Kulkarni, R.N. Zare, Anal. Chem. 70 (1998) 5103.
- [101] V.F. Ruban, D.G. Nasledov, B.V. Chernista, J. Anal. Chem. 51 (1996) 1057.
- [102] H. Colin, M. Martin, G. Guiochon, J. Chromatogr. 185 (1979) 79.
- [103] K. Slais, D. Kourilova, M. Krejci, J. Chromatogr. 282 (1983) 363.
- [104] J.P. Chervet, M. Ursem, J.P. Salzmann, Anal. Chem. 68 (1996) 1507.
- [105] H.A. Claessens, A. Burcinova, C.A. Cramers, Ph. Mussche, C.E. van Tilburg, J. Microcol. Sep. 2 (1990) 132.
- [106] M.C. Harvey, S.D. Stearns, J.P. Averette, LC Liq. Chromatogr. HPLC Mag. 3 (1985) 5.
- [107] J.W. Jorgenson, E.J. Guthrie, J. Chromatogr. 255 (1983) 335.
- [108] A. Manz, W. Simon, J. Chromatogr. 387 (1987) 187.

- [109] R.C. Simpson, J. Chromatogr. A 691 (1995) 163.
- [110] H.J. Cortes, J.R. Larson, G.M. McGowan, J. Chromatogr. 607 (1992) 131.
- [111] J.P.C. Vissers, J.P. Chervet, J.P. Salzmann, Int. Lab., January 1996, 12F.
- [112] G. Kamperman, J.C. Kraak, J. Chromatogr. 337 (1985) 384.
- [113] H.A. Claessens, M.A.J. Kuyken, Chromatographia 23 (1987) 331.
- [114] T. Takeuchi, D. Ishii, in: T. Hanai, H. Hatano (Eds.), Advances in Liquid Chromatography, Methods in Chromatography, World Scientific, Singapore, 1996, p. 169.
- [115] M.J. Mills, J. Maltas, W.J. Lough, J. Chromatogr. A 759 (1997) 1.
- [116] J.P.C. Vissers, A.H. de Ru, M. Ursem, J.P. Chervet, J. Chromatogr. A 746 (1996) 1.
- [117] A. Cappiello, G. Famiiglini, A. Berloni, J. Chromatogr. A 768 (1997) 215.
- [118] Y. He, H.K. Lee, J. Chromatogr. A 808 (1998) 79.
- [119] T. Takeuchi, Y. Jin, Y.Y.Y. Yuye, D. Ishii, J. Chromatogr. 321 (1985) 159.
- [120] M.W.F. Nielen, R.C.A. Koordes, R.W. Frei, U.A.Th. Brinkman, J. Chromatogr. 330 (1985) 113.
- [121] E. Noroozian, F.A. Maris, M.W.F. Nielen, R.W. Frei, G.J. de Jong, U.A.Th. Brinkman, J. High Resolut. Chromatogr. Chromatogr. Commun. 10 (1987) 17.
- [122] C. Moore, K. Sato, Y. Katsumata, J. Chromatogr. 539 (1991) 215.
- [123] R.E.J. van Soest, J.P. Chervet, M. Ursem, J.M. Suijlen, LC·GC 9 (1996) 586.
- [124] J. Cai, J. Henion, Anal. Chem. 56 (1996) 72.
- [125] J.P.C. Vissers, W.P. Hulst, J.P. Chervet, H.M.J. Snijders, C.A. Cramers, J. Chromatogr. B 686 (1996) 119.
- [126] H. Shen, C.A. Aspinwall, R.T. Kennedy, J. Chromatogr. B 689 (1997) 295.
- [127] Ch.E. Kientz, A. Verweij, G.J. de Jong, U.A.Th. Brinkman, J. High Resolut. Chromatogr. 12 (1989) 793.
- [128] R. Swart, P. Koivisto, K.E. Markides, J. Chromatogr. A 828 (1998) 209.
- [129] E. van der Heeft, G.J. ten Hove, C.A. Herberts, H.D. Meiring, C.A.C.M. van Els, A.P.J.M. de Jong, Anal. Chem. 70 (1998) 3742.
- [130] K. Vanhoutte, W. Van Dongen, I. Hoes, F. Lemière, E.L. Esmans, H. Van Onckelen, E. Van den Eckhoudt, R.E.J. van Soest, A.J. Hudson, Anal. Chem. 69 (1997) 3161.
- [131] J.A. Pascual, G.J. ten Hove, A.P.M.J. de Jong, J. Microcol. Sep. 8 (1996) 383.
- [132] K.J. Miller, A.C. Herman, Anal. Chem. 68 (1996) 3077.
- [133] T. Visser, M.J. Vredenbregt, G.J. ten Hove, A.P.J.M. de Jong, G.W. Somson, Anal. Chim. Acta 342 (1997) 151.
- [134] J. Cai, J. Henion, J. Chromatogr. B 691 (1997) 357.
- [135] A.J. Oosterkamp, E. Gelpi, J. Abian, J. Mass Spectrom. 33 (1998) 976.
- [136] E. Thordarson, S. Pálmarsdóttir, L. Mathiasson, J.Å. Jönsson, Anal. Chem. 68 (1996) 2559.
- [137] B. Lin Ling, W.R.G. Baeyens, C. Dewaele, B. Del Castillo, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal. 10 (1992) 985.
- [138] H.J. Tarigan, P. Neill, C.K. Kenmore, D.J. Bornhop, Anal. Chem. 68 (1996) 1762.

- [139] C.K. Kenmore, S.R. Erskine, D.J. Bornhop, J. Chromatogr. A 762 (1997) 219.
- [140] B.N. Zegers, J.F.C. de Brouwer, A. Poopema, H. Lingeman, U.A.Th. Brinkman, Anal. Chim. Acta 304 (1995) 47.
- [141] A. Manz, Z. Fröbe, W. Simon, in: M.V. Novotny, D. Ishii (Eds.), Microcolumn Separations (Journal of Chromatography Library, No. 30), Elsevier, Amsterdam, 1985, p. 297.
- [142] M. Kamahori, Y. Watanabe, J. Muri, M. Taki, H. Miyagi, J. Chromatogr. 465 (1989) 227.
- [143] C. Kientz, A. Verweij, J. High Resolut. Chromatogr. Chromatogr. Commun. 11 (1988) 294.
- [144] J. Vindevogel, G. Schuddinck, C. Dewaele, M. Verzele, J. High Resolut. Chromatogr. Chromatogr. Commun. 11 (1988) 317.
- [145] G.J.M. Bruin, G. Stegeman, A.C. van Asten, X. Xu, J.C. Kraak, H. Poppe, J. Chromatogr. 559 (1991) 16.
- [146] M. Janecek, V. Kahle, M. Krejci, J. Chromatogr. 438 (1988) 409.
- [147] M. Janecek, F. Foret, K. Slais, P. Bocek, Chromatographia 25 (1988) 815.
- [148] J.P. Chervet, M. Ursem, J.P. Salzmann, R.W. Vannoort, J. High Resolut. Chromatogr. 12 (1989) 278.
- [149] J.P. Chervet, M. Ursem, J.P. Salzmann, R.W. Vannoort, LC·GC 7 (1989) 514.
- [150] D.N. Heiger, P. Kaltenbach, H.-G. Siegert, Electrophoresis 15 (1994) 1234.
- [151] P. Sandra, G. Steenbeke, M. Ghys, G. Schomburg, J. High Resolut. Chromatogr. 13 (1990) 527.
- [152] M. Verzele, G. Steenbeke, J. Vindevogel, J. Chromatogr. 477 (1989) 87.
- [153] T. Takeuchi, D. Ishii, J. Chromatogr. 288 (1984) 451.
- [154] D. Ishii, M. Goto, T. Takeuchi, J. Chromatogr. 316 (1984) 441.
- [155] T. Takeuchi, D. Ishii, J. High Resolut. Chromatogr. Chromatogr. Commun. 7 (1984) 151.
- [156] T.J. Edkins, D.C. Shelly, in: G. Patonay (Ed.), HPLC Detector: Newer Methods, VCH, New York, 1992, p. 1.
- [157] Z. Rosenzweig, E.S. Yeung, Appl. Spectrosc. 47 (1993) 1175.
- [158] A.A. Abbas, D.C. Shelly, J. Chromatogr. A 691 (1995) 37.
- [159] F. Adreolini, S.C. Beale, M. Novotny, J. High Resolut. Chromatogr. Chromatogr. Commun. 11 (1988) 20.
- [160] J. Gluckman, D. Shelly, M. Novotny, J. Chromatogr. 317 (1984) 443.
- [161] V.L. McGuffin, R.N. Zare, Appl. Spectrosc. 39 (1985) 847.
- [162] J.C. Gluckman, M. Novotny, J. High Resolut. Chromatogr. Chromatogr. Commun. 8 (1985) 672.
- [163] J.C. Gluckman, D.C. Shelly, M. Novotny, Anal. Chem. 57 (1985) 1546.
- [164] M. Verzele, C. Dewaele, J. Chromatogr. 395 (1987) 85.
- [165] T. Takeuchi, D. Ishii, Chromatographia 25 (1988) 697.
- [166] T. Takeuchi, D. Ishii, J. High Resolut. Chromatogr. Chromatogr. Commun. 11 (1988) 841.
- [167] T. Takeuchi, T. Miwa, Chromatographia 38 (1994) 555.
- [168] A. Manz, Z. Fröbe, W. Simon, in: M.V. Novotny, D. Ishii (Eds.), Microcolumn Separations (Journal of Chromatography Library, No. 30), Elsevier, Amsterdam, 1985, p. 297.

- [169] J.E. Baur, E.W. Kristensen, R.W. Wightman, Anal. Chem. 60 (1988) 2334.
- [170] K. Slais, B. Oscik-Mendyk, J. Chromatogr. 456 (1988) 370.
- [171] K. Slais, J. Chromatogr. 436 (1988) 413.
- [172] M. Janecek, K. Slais, J. Chromatogr. 471 (1989) 303.
- [173] T. Takeuchi, T. Miwa, A. Hemmi, T. Maeda, Chromatographia 37 (1993) 173.
- [174] A. Manz, W. Simon, J. Chromatogr. Sci. 21 (1983) 326.
- [175] A. Manz, W. Simon, Anal. Chem. 59 (1987) 74.
- [176] L.A. Knecht, E.J. Guthrie, J.W. Jorgenson, Anal. Chem. 56 (1984) 479.
- [177] J.C. White, R.L. St. Claire III, J.W. Jorgenson, Anal. Chem. 58 (1986) 293.
- [178] M. Goto, K. Shimada, T. Takeuchi, D. Ishii, Anal. Sci. 4 (1988) 17.
- [179] V.F. Ruban, J. High Resolut. Chromatogr. 13 (1990) 112.
- [180] V.F. Ruban, J. High Resolut. Chromatogr. 16 (1993) 663.
- [181] K. Slais, D. Kourilova, Chromatographia 16 (1982) 265.
- [182] L.J. Nagels, J.M. Kaufman, G. Schuddink, C. Dewaele, G.J. Patriarche, M. Verzele, J. Chromatogr. 459 (1988) 163.
- [183] T. Li, P. Coufal, F. Opckar, K. Stulick, E. Wang, Anal. Chim. Acta 360 (1998) 53.
- [184] S.R. Wallenborg, K.E. Markides, L. Nyholm, Anal. Chim. Acta 344 (1997) 77.
- [185] C. Terashima, H. Tanaka, M. Furuno, J. Chromatogr. A 828 (1998) 113.
- [186] M. Goto, K. Shimada, Chromatographia 21 (1986) 631.
- [187] C.N. Svendsen, Analyst 18 (1993) 123.
- [188] A. Aoki, T. Matsue, I. Uchia, Anal. Chem. 64 (1992) 44.
- [189] M. Takahashi, M. Morita, O. Niwa, H. Tabei, J. Electroanal. Chem. 335 (1992) 253.
- [190] S. Sarre, Y. Michotte, C.A. Marvin, G. Ebiger, J. Chromatogr. 582 (1992) 29.
- [191] K.A. Sager, M.T. Kelly, T. Mary, M.R. Smith, J. Chromatogr. 577 (1992) 109.
- [192] E.J. Caliguri, I.N. Mefford, Brain Res. 296 (1984) 156.
- [193] H. Shen, M.W. Lada, R.T. Kenndy, J. Chromatogr. B 704 (1997) 43.
- [194] A.J. Lange, P.R. Griffits, D.J.J. Fraser, Anal. Chem. 63 (1991) 782.
- [195] C. Fujimoto, T. Morita, K. Jinno, K.H. Shafer, J. High Resolut. Chromatogr. Chromatogr. Commun. 11 (1988) 810.
- [196] G.J. De Jong, N. Lammers, F.J. Spruit, C. Dewaele, M. Verzele, Anal. Chem. 59 (1987) 1458.
- [197] T. Takeuchi, T. Miwa, Chromatographia 37 (1993) 281.
- [198] S.H. Chen, C.E. Evans, V.L. McGuffin, Anal. Chim. Acta 246 (1991) 65.
- [199] J. Chu, R. Hu, T. Miwa, T. Takeuchi, Chromatographia 40 (1995) 379.
- [200] R. Gotz, J.W. Elgersma, J. C Kraak, H. Poppe, Spectrochim. Acta B 49B (1994) 761.
- [201] S. Hoffmann, H.R. Norli, T. Greibrokk, J. High Resolut. Chromatogr. 12 (1989) 260.
- [202] K.C. Lewis, J.W. Jorgenson, S.L. Kaufman, J.W. Skogen, J. Microcol. Sep. 10 (1997) 467.
- [203] K.C. Lewis, D.M. Dohmeier, J.W. Jorgenson, S.L. Kaufman, J.W. Skogen, Anal. Chem. 66 (1994) 2285.

- [204] G. Sheng, Y. Shen, M.L. Lee, J. Microcol. Sep. 9 (1997) 63.
- [205] F. Houdiere, P.W.J. Fowler, N.M. Djordjevic, Anal. Chem. 69 (1997) 2589.
- [206] M.H. Chen, C. Horváth, J. Chromatogr. A 788 (1997) 51.
- [207] C. Fujimoto, T. Morita, K. Jinno, J. Chromatogr. 438 (1988) 329.
- [208] T. Takeuchi, M. Asai, H. Haraguchi, D. Ishii, J. Chromatogr. 599 (1990) 549.
- [209] L.A. Holland, J.W. Jorgenson, Anal. Chem. 67 (1995) 3275.
- [210] D.B. Kassel, T.G. Cousler, M. Shalaby, P. Selchri, N. Gorden, T. Nadler, in: R.J.W. Crabb (Ed.), Tech. Protein. Chem. VI, Academic Press, San Diego, 1995, p. 39.
- [211] T.E. Mulligan, R.W. Blain, N.F. Oldfied, B.A. Mico, J. Liq. Chromatogr. 17 (1994) 133.
- [212] J.P.C. Vissers, R.E.J. van Soest, J.P. Chervet, C.A. Cramers, J. Microcol. Sep. 11 (1999) 277.
- [213] H.J. Cortes, B.E. Richter, C.D. Pfeiffer, D.E. Jenssen, J. Chromatogr. 349 (1985) 55.
- [214] K. Grob, J.-M. Stoll, J. High Resolut. Chromatogr. Chromatogr. Commun. 9 (1986) 518.
- [215] H.J. Cortes, L. Green, C. Shayne, M. Robert, Anal. Chem. 62 (1991) 2719.
- [216] F. Munari, A. Frisciani, G. Mapelli, S. Tristianu, K. Grob, J.M. Colin, J. High Resolut. Chromatogr. Chromatogr. Commun. 8 (1985) 601.
- [217] I.L. Davis, K.D. Bartle, G.E. Andrews, P.T. Williams, J. Chromatogr. Sci. 26 (1988) 125.
- [218] D. Duquet, C. Dewaele, M. Verzele, S. McKinley, J. High Resolut. Chromatogr. Chromatogr. Commun. 11 (1988) 824.
- [219] K. Welch, N.E. Hoffman, J. High Resolut. Chromatogr. 15 (1992) 171.
- [220] R. Moulder, K.D. Barttle, A.A. Clifford, Analyst 116 (1991) 1293.
- [221] A.V. Lemmo, J.W. Jorgenson, Anal. Chem. 65 (1993) 1576.
- [222] U.B. Ranalder, B.B. Lausecker, C. Huselton, J. Chromatogr. 617 (1993) 129.
- [223] H. Albron, G. Stenhagen, J. Chromatogr. 394 (1987) 35.
- [224] E.L. Esmans, P. Geboes, Y. Luyten, F.C. Alderweirelt, Biomed. Mass Spectrom. 12 (1985) 241.
- [225] E.D. Lee, J.D. Henion, J. Chromatogr. Sci. 23 (1985) 253.
- [226] R.J. Dijkstra, N.L.M. Van Baar, C.E. Kientz, W.M.A. Niessen, U.A.Th. Brinkman, Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom. 12 (1998) 5.
- [227] A. Capiello, G. Famiglini, F. Mangani, B. Tirillini, J. Am. Soc. Mass Spectrom. 6 (1995) 132.
- [228] A. Capiello, G. Famiglini, Anal. Chem. 66 (1994) 3970.
- [229] A. Capiello, G. Famiglini, F. Bruner, Anal. Chem. 66 (1994) 1416.
- [230] W. Buchberger, K. Haidar, J. Chromatogr. A 770 (1997) 59.
- [231] A.C. Barefoot, R.W. Reiser, Biomed. Environ. Mass Spectrom. 19 (1989) 77.
- [232] A. Carrier, L. Varfalvy, M.J. Bethrand, J. Chromatogr. A 705 (1995) 205.
- [233] K.B. Tomer, M.A. Moseley, L.J. Deterding, C.E. Parker, Mass Spectrom. Rev. 13 (1994) 431.
- [234] C. Li, J.A. Yergey, J. Mass Spectrom. 32 (1997) 314.

- [235] C. Åstot, K. Dolezal, T. Morit, Göran Sandberg, J. Mass Spectrom. 33 (1998) 892.
- [236] W.P. Xie, C.J. Mirocha, J. Chen, J. Agric. Food. Chem. 45 (1997) 1251.
- [237] C. Li, N. Chaurut, Y. Ducharme, L.A. Trimble, D.A. Nicoll-Griffith, J.A. Yergey, Anal. Chem. 67 (1995) 2931.
- [238] Y.-M. Li, S. Hjerten, N. Stellen, F. Nyberg, J. Silberring, J. Chromatogr. B 664 (1995) 426.
- [239] A.P. Bruins, J. Chromatogr. A 794 (1998) 345.
- [240] C.M. Whitehouse, R.N. Dreyer, M. Yamashita, J.B. Fenn, Anal. Chem. 57 (1985) 675.
- [241] J.N. Alexander, G.A. Schultz, J.B. Poli, Rapid. Commun. Mass Spectrom. 12 (1998) 1187.
- [242] M.G. Ikonomou, A.T. Blades, P. Kebarle, Anal. Chem. 63 (1991) 1989.
- [243] J.F. Banks, J. Chromatogr. A 786 (1997) 67.
- [244] A. Ducret, E.J. Bures, R. Aebersold, J. Protein. Chem. 16 (1997) 323.
- [245] D. Arnott, W.J. Henzel, J.T. Stults, Electrophoresis 19 (1998) 968.
- [246] P.L. Courchesne, M.D. Jones, J.H. Robinson, C.S. Spahr, S. McCracken, D.L. Bently, R. Luethly, S.D. Paterson, Electrophoresis 19 (1998) 956.
- [247] M.G. Qian, D.M. Lubman, Anal. Chem. 67 (1995) 2870.
- [248] J.-T. Wu, L. He, M.X. Li, S. Parus, D.M. Lubman, J. Am. Soc. Mass Spectrom. 8 (1997) 1237.
- [249] P.T. Jedrzejewski, W.D. Lehmann, Anal. Chem. 69 (1997) 294.
- [250] M.W.F. Nielen, Anal. Chem. 70 (1998) 1563.
- [251] H. Yun, S.V. Olesik, E.H. Marti, J. Microcol. Sep. 11 (1998) 53.
- [252] R. Grimm, K.D. Grasser, J. Chromatogr. A 800 (1998) 83.
- [253] S. Hsieh, K. Dreisewerd, R.C. van der Schors, C.R. Jiménez, J. Stahl-Zeng, J.W. Jorgenson, W.P. Geraerts, K. Wan Li, Anal. Chem. 70 (1998) 1847.
- [254] R. Grimm, H. Birrell, G. Ross, J. Charlwood, P. Cammileri, Anal. Chem. 70 (1998) 3840.
- [255] W. Nichols, J. Zweigenbaum, F. Garcia, M. Johansson, J. Henion, LC·GC 10 (1992) 676.
- [256] S.Y. Shang, E.S. Yeung, Anal. Chem. 69 (1997) 2251.
- [257] J. Preisler, F. Foret, B.L. Karger, Anal. Chem. 70 (1998) 5278.
- [258] H. Wu, T.L. Peck, A. G Webb, R.L. Magin, J.V. Sweedler, Anal. Chem. 66 (1994) 3849.
- [259] H. Wu, A. Webb, T.L. Peck, J.V. Sweedler, Anal. Chem. 67 (1995) 3101.
- [260] K. Albert, G. Schlotterback, L.-H. Tseng, U. Braumann, J. Chromatogr. A 750 (1996) 303.
- [261] K. Pusecker, J. Schewitz, P. Gfrörer, L.-H. Tseng, K. Albert, E. Bayer, Anal. Chem. 15 (1998) 3280.
- [262] H. Yun, S.V. Olesik, E.H. Marti, Anal. Chem. 70 (1998) 3298.
- [263] P.A. D'Agostino, L.R. Provost, J.R. Hancock, J. Chromatogr. A 808 (1998) 177.
- [264] W. Li, H.K. Lee, Talanta 45 (1998) 631.
- [265] S.C. Wong, C. Grimley, A. Oadau, J.H. Bourell, W.J. Henzel, in: R.H. Angeletti (Ed.), Tech. Protein. Chem. IV, Academic Press, San Diego, 1993, p. 371.

- [266] W.J. Henzel, T.M. Billeci, J.T. Stults, S.C. Wong, C. Grimley, C. Watanabe, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 90 (1993) 5011.
- [267] W.J. Henzel, C. Grimely, J.H. Bourell, T.M. Billeci, S.C. Wong, J.T. Stults, Methods: Comparison Methods Enzymol. 6 (1994) 239.
- [268] A.J. Link, J. Eng, J.R. Yates III, Am. Lab. 8 (1996) 27.
- [269] J.R. Yates III, J.K. Eng, A.L. McCormack, Anal. Chem. 67 (1995) 3203.
- [270] P. Tempst, S. Geromanos, C. Elicone, H. Erdjument-Bromage, Methods: Comparison Methods Enzymology 6 (1994) 252.
- [271] C. Elicone, M. Lui, S. Geromanos, H. Erdjument-Bromage, P. Tempst, J. Chromatogr. A 676 (1994) 121.
- [272] R.L. Moritz, G.E. Reid, L.D. Ward, R.J. Simpson, Methods: Comparison Methods Enzymology 6 (1994) 213.
- [273] D.B. Kassel, B. Sushan, T. Sakuma, J.P. Salzmann, Anal. Chem. 66 (1994) 236.
- [274] C.E. Kientz, A.G. Hulst, E.R.J. Wils, J. Chromatogr. A 757 (1997) 51.
- [275] J.E. Battersby, V.R. Mukku, R.S. Clark, W.S. Hancock, Anal. Chem. 57 (1995) 447.
- [276] H. Wännman, A. Walhagen, P. Erlandson, J. Chromatogr. 603 (1992) 121.
- [277] Ch.E. Kientz, J. Langenberg, G.J. De Jong, U.A.Th. Brinkman, J. High Resolut. Chromatogr. 14 (1991) 460.
- [278] H.J. Cortes, L.W. Nicholson, J. Microcol. Sep. 6 (1994) 257.
- [279] V. Schurig, M. Jung, S. Mayer, M. Fluck, S. Negura, H. Jacubetz, J. Chromatogr. A 694 (1995) 119.
- [280] J. Hermansson, I. Hermansson, J. Nordin, J. Chromatogr. 631 (1993) 79.

- [281] T. Takagi, Y. Itabashi, T. Tsuda, J. Chromatogr. Sci. 27 (1989) 574.
- [282] J. Vindevogel, J. van Dijck, M. Verzele, J. Chromatogr. 447 (1988) 297.
- [283] S.M. Han, D.W. Armstrong, J. Chromatogr. 389 (1987) 256.
- [284] T. Takeuchi, N. Nagae, J. High Resolut. Chromatogr. 15 (1992) 121.
- [285] T. Takeuchi, J. High Resolut. Chromatogr. 14 (1991) 560.
- [286] R. Hu, T. Takeuchi, J.-Y. Jin, T. Miwa, Anal. Chim. Acta 295 (1994) 173.
- [287] B. D'Acquarica, F. Gasparrini, B. Giannoli, D. Misiti, C. Villani, G.P. Mapelli, J. High Resol. Chromatogr. 20 (1997) 261.
- [288] D. Rindgen, R.J. Turesky, P. Vouros, Chem. Res. Toxicol. 8 (1995) 1005.
- [289] S.M. Wolf, P. Vouros, Chem. Res. Toxicol. 7 (1994) 82.
- [290] B. Yeung, P. Vouros, G. Reddy, Am. Lab. 7 (1994) 12.
- [291] R. Straub, M. Linder, R.D. Voyksner, Anal. Chem. 66 (1994) 3651.
- [292] S. Hsieh, J.W. Jorgenson, Anal. Chem. 69 (1997) 3907.
- [293] S.L. Eeckhoudt, J.-P. Desager, Y. Horsmans, A. De Winne, R.K. Verbeeck, J. Chromatogr. B 710 (1998) 165.
- [294] K.A. Hutton, D.E. Games, Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom. 11 (1997) 735.
- [295] E. Witters, W. Van Dongen, E.L. Esmans, H.A. Van Onckelen, J. Chromatogr. B 694 (1997) 55.
- [296] E. Prinssen, W. Van Dongen, E.L. Esmans, H.A. Van Onckelen, J. Chromatogr. A 826 (1998) 25.
- [297] R. Draisci, L. Gianetti, L. Lucentini, L. Pallechi, I. Purificato, G. Moretti, J. High Resol. Chromatogr. 20 (1997) 421.
- [298] K.-E. Karlson, J. Chromatogr. A 794 (1998) 359.